The Netherlands Journal of Medicine

PUBLISHED IN COLLABORATION WITH THE NETHERLANDS ASSOCIATION OF INTERNAL MEDICINE



Nail haemorrhage after high altitude; what is your diagnosis?

Hypocalcaemia of malignancy Biochemical response and management of PBC Quality of life, rehabilitation and mortality in a nursing home population Reagent strips for spontaneous bacterial peritonitis Risk stratification for healthcare planning in gestational diabetes

JULY 2016, VOL. 74, NO. 6, ISSN 0300-2977

VAN ZUIDEN COMMUNICATIONS

The Netherlands Journal of Medicine

MISSION STATEMENT

To serve the need of the physician to practice up-to-date medicine and to keep track of important issues in health care. To promote and to enhance clinical knowledge by publishing editorials, original articles, reviews, papers regarding specialty training, medical education and correspondence.

Editor in chief

Paul van Daele, Department of Internal Medicine and Department of Immunology, Erasmus MC, University Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands

Editorial team

Jelmer Alsma Mark Eijgelsheim Femme Harinck Maarten Limper Sanne Lugthart Jorie Versmissen

Associate editors

Hannelore Bax Ingrid Boere Virgil Dalm Teun van Gelder Laura de Graaff Wouter de Herder Dennis Hesselink Mandy van Hoek Janneke Langendonk Mirjam Langeveld Frank Leebeek Rob de Man Stephanie Klein Nagelvoort Christian Oudshoorn Roos Padmos

EDITORIAL INFORMATION

Robin Peeters Marijn Vis Bob Zietse Carola Zillikens

Junior associate editors

Karin Blijdorp Mark Claassen Gerard Jansen Pim Mutsaers

Editorial board

G. Agnelli, Perugia, Italy J.T. van Dissel, Leiden, the Netherlands R.O.B. Gans, Groningen, the Netherlands A.R.J. Girbes, Amsterdam, the Netherlands D.E. Grobbee, Utrecht, the Netherlands E. de Jonge, Leiden, the Netherlands D.L. Kastner, Bethesda, USA M.H. Kramer, Amsterdam, the Netherlands E.J. Kuipers, Rotterdam, the Netherlands Ph. Mackowiak, Baltimore, USA J.W.M. van der Meer, Nijmegen, the Netherlands B. Lipsky, Seattle, USA B. Lowenberg, Rotterdam, the Netherlands

G. Parati, Milan, Italy A.J. Rabelink, Leiden, the Netherlands D.J. Rader, Philadelphia, USA J.L.C.M. van Saase, Rotterdam, the Netherlands M.M.E. Schneider, Utrecht, the Netherlands J. Smit, Nijmegen, the Netherlands Y. Smulders, Amsterdam, the Netherlands C.D.A. Stehouwer, Maastricht, the Netherlands J.L. Vincent, Brussels, Belgium R.G.J. Westendorp, Leiden, the Netherlands

Editorial office

Erasmus MC, University Medical Center Rotterdam Department of Internal Medicine 's-Gravendijkwal 230 3015 CE Rotterdam The Netherlands Tel.: +31 (0)10-703 59 54 Fax: +31 (0)10-703 32 68 E-mail: p.l.a.vandaele@erasmusmc.nl http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/ nethjmed

CITED IN

Biosis database; embase/excerpta medica; index medicus (medline) science citation index, science citation index expanded, isi alerting services, medical documentation services, current contents/clinical medicine, PubMed.

ISSN: 0300-2977

Copyright © 2016 Van Zuiden Communications B.V. All rights reserved. Except as outlined below, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission of the publisher. Permission may be sought directly from Van Zuiden Communications B.V.

Photocopying Single photocopies of single articles may be made for personal use as allowed by national copyright laws. Permission of the publisher and payment of a fee is required for all other photocopying, including multiple or systematic copying, copying for advertising or promotional purposes, resale, and all forms of document delivery. Special rates are available for educational institutions that wish to make photocopies for non-profit educational classroom use. classroom use.

Derivative works

Derivative works Subscribers may reproduce tables of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. Permission of the publisher is required for resale or distribution outside the institution. Permission of the publisher is also required for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations. translations.

Electronic storage Permission of the publisher is required to store or use electronically any material contained in this journal, including any article or part of an article.

Responsibility No responsibility is assumed by the publisher for No responsibility is assumed by the publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of product liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of the rapid advances in the medical sciences, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages is advised. Although all advertising material is expected to conform to ethical (medical) standards, inclusion in this publication does not constitute a guarantee or endorsement of the quality or value of such product or of the claims made of it by its manufacturer.

manufacturer.

VAN ZUIDEN Van Zuiden Communications B.V. PO Box 2122 2400 CC Alphen aan den Rijn The Netherlands Tel.: +31 (0)172-47 61 91 Email: mouton@vanzuidencommunications.nl Internet: www.njm-online.nl

Contents

Primary biliary cholangitis, let's try to keep the new nomenclature correct!	220
F. Harinck	229
REVIEW	
Hypocalcaemia of malignancy	231
A. Schattner, I. Dubin, R. Huber, M. Gelber	
ORIGINAL ARTICLES	
How the concept of biochemical response influenced the management of primary biliary cholangitis over time	240
W.J. Lammers, M. Leeman, C.I.J. Ponsioen, K. Boonstra, K.J. van Erpecum, F.H.J. Wolfhagen, J.Ph. Kuyvenhoven, J.M. Vrolijk, J.P.H. Drenth, E.M. Witteman, C.M.J. van Nieuwkerk, B.W. van der Spek, B.J.M. Witteman, G.W Erkelens, M.A.M.T. Verhagen, S.A.C. van Tuyl, A.C. Poen, J.T. Brouwer, F. ter Borg, G.H. Koek, T.J.M. van Ditzhuijsen, B.E. Hansen, H.R. van Buuren on behalf of a Dutch Multicenter PBC Study Group	
Health-related quality of life, rehabilitation and mortality in a nursing home population	247
L.C. Hartog, G.W.D. Landman, M. Cimzar-Sweelssen, A. Knipscheer, K.H. Groenier, N. Kleefstra, H.J.G. Bilo, K.J.J. van Hateren	
Reagent strips are efficient to rule out spontaneous bacterial peritonitis in cirrhotics	257
R.C. Oey J.J. Kuiper, H.R. van Buuren, R.A. de Man	
Risk stratification for healthcare planning in women with gestational diabetes mellitus	262
S.H. Koning, K.A. Scheuneman, H.L. Lutgers, F.J. Korteweg, G. van den Berg, K.M. Sollie, A. Roos, A.J. van Loon, T.P. Links, K.M. van Tol, K. Hoogenberg, P.P. van den Berg, B.H.R. Wolffenbuttel	
PHOTO QUIZZES	
Abdominal pain with a remarkable origin	270
H.G. Freling, P. Swartbol, T.F. Veneman	
Spontaneous, painful nail haemorrhages and onycholysis in a patient at high altitude	272
S.D. Marbus, M. van Vugt	
A case of bilious pleuritis after radiofrequency ablation	274
B. Tomlow, A.P. Visscher, W. Burgersdijk	• •

LETTERS TO THE EDITOR 1.0 . 1. .

4-Aminopyridine as a life-saving treatment in calcium channel antagonist intoxication P.H.J. van der Voort, B. Wilffert, E.N. van Roon, D.R.A. Uges	276
Could extracorporeal albumin dialysis be considered as an adjunct therapy in calcium-channel blocker overdose? D. Vodovar, B. Mégarbane	277

Response to the letters to the editor from Van der voort et al. and 279 Vodovar and Mégarbane S.J. Rietjens, D.W. Donker, D.W. de Lange

Primary biliary cholangitis, let's try to keep the new nomenclature correct!

F. Harinck

Department of Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, f.harinck@erasmusmc.nl

It is only recently that the term primary biliary cirrhosis was changed into primary biliary cholangitis (PBC).¹ One of the main reasons to do so was because the former name did not reflect the natural history of the disease in the vast majority of today's patients.

When the disease entity of PBC was established, advanced liver disease showing histological and clinical findings of cirrhosis was found in most of the patients. Since the introduction of antimitochondrial antibodies for the diagnosis of PBC, the majority of patients are diagnosed in the early stages, well before the cirrhosis stage. As most of these patients with early stage PBC respond well to medical therapy, it is in just a minority of patients that the disease will eventually progress to cirrhosis.¹

PBC is a chronic cholestatic disease of which the cause is still unknown. It is a slowly progressive autoimmune disease characterised by portal inflammation and necrosis of cholangiocytes in the small and medium-sized bile ducts. PBC has a strong female preference. The mean age at time of diagnosis is around 50 years.

Ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) is currently the only therapeutically effective agent for PBC. This drug does not cure but delays histological progression. After the introduction of UDCA in the 1990s the prognosis of PBC has dramatically improved. At present, two out of three patients diagnosed with PBC and treated with UDCA have an expected survival not different from the general population.² There is currently no consensus on how to treat patients with a suboptimal biochemical response to UDCA. Other drugs have been tested, but none have been found to be of benefit as single agent. The European guideline suggests a combination of UDCA and budesonide (6-9 mg/d) in non-cirrhotic patients (stages I-3); however, the grade of evidence for this approach is low (grade III/C2).³

The biochemical response to UDCA after one year of treatment is an important indicator for the prognosis of PBC. Previous studies have shown that for patients fulfilling criteria for 'good biochemical response' the long-term outcome is significantly better than for non-responders. Non-responders remain at risk for requiring liver transplantation or premature death. Key papers with respect to the important prognostic information of biochemical response are those of Angulo et al.⁴ and of Pares et al.⁵

This current issue contains a paper by Lammers et al. entitled 'How the concept of biochemical response influenced the management of primary biliary cholangitis over time'.⁶ This is a retrospective study of a Dutch cohort of 851 PBC patients over a considerable period of time (1988-2011). The focus of this paper was to evaluate to what extent liver test results influenced patient management during a three-decade period, and whether this changed over time. In other words, if a patient was a non-responder on UDCA, was the therapeutic treatment modified in order to which this non-responder did respond effectively? For example, were other drugs added to UDCA? Unique to this cohort is that the study period includes both 1999 and 2006, the years in which the key papers with respect to the relevance of achieving good biochemical response were published. It could be expected that after these publications clinicians would be more aware of the importance of a good biochemical response and would adapt their clinical practice in the non-responders.

The authors found that management was modified in only a minority of the non-responders. They did not observe an increase of response-guided management over time. The most frequently seen modification was an increase in UDCA dose. Remarkably, budesonide was not added to UDCA in any of the non-responders.

I am not sure whether these somewhat 'disappointing' results are due to the lack of awareness among clinicians with respect to the concept of biochemical response. It seems logical to assume that this can mainly be explained due to the fact that we currently lack good second-line therapy. Fortunately, clinical trials are currently being

conducted and will hopefully result in effective alternative treatment within a short time. In the meantime, we cannot do better than to follow the guidelines in order to hopefully prevent cirrhosis from developing for both responders and non-responders. In order to try to keep the new nomenclature 'correct' for all patients with PBC.

REFERENCES

- 1. Beuers U, Gershwin ME, Gish RG, et al. Changing nomenclature for PBC: from 'cirrhosis' to 'cholangitis'. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:1627-9.
- Kuiper EM, Hansen BE, de Vries RA, et al. Improved prognosis of patients with primary biliary cirrhosis that have a biochemical response to ursodeoxycholic acid. Gastroenterology. 2009;136:1281-7.

- EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: management of cholestatic liver diseases. J Hepatol. 2009;51:237-67.
- Angulo P, Lindor KD, Therneau TM, et al. Utilization of the Mayo risk score in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis receiving ursodeoxycholic acid. Liver. 1999;19:115-21.
- Pares A, Caballeria L, Rodes J. Excellent long-term survival in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis and biochemical response to ursodeoxycholic Acid. Gastroenterology. 2006;130:715-20.
- Lammers WJ, Leeman M, Ponsioen CIJ, et al; on behalf of a Dutch Multicenter PBC Study Group. How the concept of biochemical response influenced the management of primary biliary cholangitis over time. Neth J Med. 2016;74:240-6.

Hypocalcaemia of malignancy

A. Schattner*, I. Dubin, R. Huber, M. Gelber

Department of Medicine, Laniado Hospital, Sanz Medical Center, Netanya and the Faculty of Medicine, Hebrew University and Hadassah Medical School, Jerusalem, Israel, *corresponding author: tel.: 972 8 939 0330, fax: 972 8 9441 187, email: amischatt@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Background: Hypercalcaemia of malignancy is well recognised, but hypocalcaemia in cancer patients is not, although it is increasingly encountered.

Methods: Analysis of an exemplary case and a narrative review of the literature based on the search terms cancer and hypocalcaemia.

Results: Hypocalcaemia may affect as many as 10% of hospitalised cancer patients. We identified 12 different potential mechanisms of hypocalcaemia of malignancy. Identifying the pathogenesis is essential for the correct treatment and can usually be performed at the bedside, based on serum parathyroid hormone (PTH) levels, creatinine, phosphate, magnesium, creatine kinase, liver enzymes and 25(OH)D. Essentially, decreased or normal PTH hypocalcaemia is seen after removal or destruction of its source, hypomagnesaemia, or cinacalcet treatment. In all other cancer-associated hypocalcaemia, PTH is elevated, including significant renal impairment, critically ill patients, extensive cell destruction (rhabdomyolysis, tumour lysis, haemolysis), acute pancreatitis, adverse drug reactions, cancer or cancer treatment-related malabsorption syndromes, vitamin D deficiency, or osteoblastic metastases. Different mechanisms may often operate in tandem. Pathogenesis determines treatment and affects prognosis. However, hypocalcaemia of malignancy as such did not imply a worse prognosis, in contrast with hypercalcaemia.

Conclusion: Hypocalcaemia in cancer patients is commonly encountered, particularly in hospitalised patients, may be mediated by diverse mechanisms and should be better recognised.

KEYWORDS

Hypocalcaemia, cancer, calcium metabolism, parathyroid hormone, critical care, rhabdomyolysis, tumour lysis syndrome, hypomagnesaemia, vitamin D, osteoblastic metastases.

INTRODUCTION

In patients with cancer, hypercalcaemia is common and may occur in up to 30%, often indicating advanced disease and poor prognosis.1 Lung, breast and haematological malignancies are involved in 84% of the cases but the mechanisms differ. Three major mechanisms have been identified: humoral hypercalcaemia due to secretion of parathyroid hormone (PTH)-related peptide by the tumour (for example, squamous cell carcinomas, renal, bladder, breast, or ovarian cancer), osteolytic bone lesions (for example, breast cancer or multiple myeloma), or production of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (calcitriol) by the tumour (for example, lymphoma).² In contrast, it is not well known that malignancy may also be associated with hypocalcaemia. A large variety of different and intriguing mechanisms may be involved and their full spectrum is not widely recognised.

Looking at these mechanisms, it might be conjectured that hypocalcaemia of malignancy will be increasingly encountered by clinicians in the future. We will present and discuss this entity in detail following the presentation of an exemplary patient. Our manuscript aims to draw attention to this potentially serious and relatively under-appreciated entity whose treatment is far from being uniform and must be adapted to its pathogenesis. It is based on a narrative review of the literature which covers incidence, pathogenetic mechanisms, aetiology-based diagnostic flowchart, prognosis, and treatment recommendations.

CASE REPORT

A community-dwelling 89-year-old man was admitted with a few days history of cough, dyspnoea and refusal to eat. His past medical history included dementia and prostatitis identified in a biopsy performed five years previously for nocturia and a prostate specific antigen (PSA) level of 20 ng/ml (N < 4 ng/ml). He was not on any

medications. On admission he was afebrile but hypoxaemic (saturation 91%), with bibasilar crepitations, elevated jugular venous pressure and leg oedema. A suprapubic prostatectomy scar was noted. ECG showed minor ST elevation in the precordial leads. Chest X-ray demonstrated pneumonia and pulmonary congestion. Blood test results are summarised in *table 1*. Six months before, the serum creatinine was 0.8 mg/dl, haemoglobin 10.8 g/dl and platelets 304 x 103/µl. Furosemide (80 mg), intravenous fluids (2.5 litres of saline), blood transfusions (2 units of packed cells) and antibiotics (ceftriaxone and azithromycin) were started. No hydronephrosis or masses were found on abdominal ultrasound. Urinalysis was unremarkable, sodium 10 mEq/l. The peripheral blood smear showed no fragmented erythrocytes. While the patient's renal function improved to normal (creatinine 1.1 mg/dl) and the C-reactive protein significantly decreased, his hypocalcaemia unexpectedly worsened to 4.7 mg/dl with

Table 1. The patient's blood tests on admission
Haemoglobin 7.1 g/dl (MCV 86)
WBC 8.0 x 10³/µl (normal differential, lymphopenia)
Platelets 60 x 10 ³ /µl
*Erythrocyte sedimentation rate 120 mm/h
*C-reactive protein 293 mg/d (N < 6)
*Ferritin > 2000 ng/ml (N < 320)
Glucose 98 mg/dl
Urea nitrogen 58 mg/dl, then 19
Creatinine 3.3 mg/dl, then 1.1
Sodium 153 mEq/l
Potassium 4.2 mEq/l
Calcium 6.8 mg/dl (corrected for serum albumin: 8.1) (N 8.5-10.5)
Phosphorus 4.6 mg/dl
Magnesium 1.9 mg/dl
*Albumin 2.4 g/dl, then 2.0
Globulin 3.6 g/dl
Aminotransferases 37/39 IU/l

Lactate dehydrogenase 910 IU/l

Alkaline phosphatase 860 IU/(N < 126)

Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase 21 IU/l

Amylase 58 IU/l

Creatine kinase 340 IU/l, then 164 (N < 200)

Troponin 0.06 ng/ml (N < 0.03)

* Positive (ESR, CRP, ferritin) and negative (albumin) acute-phase reactants. WBC = white blood cell count; N = normal.

a serum albumin of 2 g/dl. Both were normal six months previously. The patient developed a positive Chvostek sign and prolonged QT interval. Serum phosphate, magnesium and creatine kinase were normal (table 1). The 25-hydroxyvitamin D level was 10.0 ng/ml (N > 50 ng/ml; < 8-10 identifies patients at high risk for osteomalacia). Intact parathyroid hormone (PTH) was increased to 319 pg/ml (N 15-68 pg/ml). Urinary 24-hour calcium level was 40 mg (N 100-300 mg). The prostatectomy pathology report arrived from another hospital, revealing that a markedly enlarged prostate (9 x 5.5 x 5 cm) resected four years ago had six foci of carcinoma involving the surgical margins, Gleason score 6. A bone scan was then normal and the patient declined treatment. A 99 mTc bone scintigraphy now revealed symmetric homogenous increased uptake in the skeleton, so called 'super scan' (figure 1), consistent with extensive bone metastases of prostate cancer.3 The current PSA returned markedly

Figure 1. The patient's 99mTc bone scintigraphy showing a 'super bone scan'. This pattern of uniform symmetric increased bone uptake of tracer relative to soft tissue is not pathognomonic to extensive osteoblastic skeletal metastases and can also be seen in hyperparathyroidism, osteomalacia and myelofibrosis³



Schattner et al. Hypocalcaemia of malignancy.

increased at 440 ng/ml. The hypocalcaemia was corrected by intravenous calcium gluconate (2 ampules of 10% solution equivalent to 180 mg elemental calcium in 50 ml 5% dextrose infused over 30 min and continued at 1.0 mg/ kg/h) plus oral calcium and calcitriol (0.25 μ g, twice daily), but the patient died before oncological treatment could be commenced.

COMMENT

The patient presented with symptoms of congestive heart failure due to an acute myocardial infarction associated with pneumonia.4 We suspected the acute kidney injury and cytopenias were due to ADAMTS13 deficiency and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura, which can be triggered by infectious agents,5 but ruled it out. On admission, the hypocalcaemia (8.1 mg/dl, corrected for albumin) was considered incidental in an acutely ill geriatric patient with acute kidney injury. When he improved and the prerenal azotaemia resolved, his hypocalcaemia paradoxically worsened (6.3 mg/dl corrected for albumin). The differential diagnosis of hypocalcaemia in combination with elevated PTH and markedly increased alkaline phosphatase not related to the liver⁶ includes osteoblastic bone tumours and osteomalacia. Low urinary calcium excretion is common to both. Indeed, he had concomitant vitamin D deficiency - a common finding among cancer patients in correlation with disease stage7 and increasingly recognised in the general population.^{8,9} However, metabolic bone disease alone is unlikely to account for the extreme and escalating hypocalcaemia. Its unique pathogenesis in primarily osteoblastic metastases^{10,11} will be discussed below. Here, the presumptive diagnosis was supported by the associated marked cytopenias and confirmed by the pathology report, technetium bone scintigraphy and rising PSA levels.

METHODS

Most of the data on hypocalcaemia and cancer comes from case reports, case series or reviews of specific syndromes involving hypocalcaemia (e.g. tumour lysis syndrome, hypomagnesaemia, etc.). A narrative review methodology was therefore adopted. We searched PubMed using the terms cancer (or malignancy) and hypocalcaemia in adults, to capture and review all abstracted publications in the English language. Out of the abstracts (n = 777), more than 350 articles were reviewed. Any report of hypocalcaemia in the setting of cancer or its treatment was included, evaluated and classified according to the mechanism involved. A list comprising all the pathogenetic mechanisms identified was created. A few additional studies from the articles' bibliographies were also included. Treatment recommendations were based on expert opinion and consensus statements, in the absence of more solid evidence.

Incidence of hypocalcaemia in malignancy

Only two studies have looked at the incidence of hypocalcaemia among cancer patients. Both are over 25 years old and their results are widely discrepant, probably due to differences in the patient populations studied. In Blomqvist's study, 1.6% of 7625 ambulatory oncology patients were found to be hypocalcaemic,12 while D'Erasmo et al., who studied hospitalised patients, found an incidence of 10.8%.13 Since cancer treatment and survival has varied and several important aetiologies of hypocalcaemia in cancer may be more prevalent today, a current study is indicated, particularly among hospitalised patients. Thus, the entity seems to be far from rare. In patients with solid tumours and bone metastases, an incidence of 5-13% was reported by Riancho et al.14 and the difference depends on the formula used to correct total calcium for reduced serum albumin concentrations, which are common in cancer patients.15

Myriad of mechanisms of hypocalcaemia in malignancy

Hypocalcaemia, a decrease in extracellular calcium defined as serum total calcium < 8.5 mg/dl corrected for serum albumin, triggers an increase in PTH secretion to restore homeostasis by enhancing tubular calcium reabsorption in the kidney, stimulating osteoclastic bone resorption and promoting active vitamin D synthesis in the kidney (I,25-(OH)2D3, calcitriol), which increases intestinal calcium absorption and enhances PTH effects.^{2,16} Thus, hypocalcaemia develops when the net efflux of calcium from the extracellular fluid exceeds its replacement, due to disruption of these defence mechanisms such as occurs in reduced PTH or PTH resistance, vitamin D deficiency, or hyperphosphataemia secondary to decreased phosphate excretion or increased load.

Our literature review yielded altogether 12 potential mechanisms of hypocalcaemia in malignancy, excluding acute kidney injury /chronic kidney disease:

- Pseudohypocalcaemia: in the context of hypoalbuminaemia (decreased binding) or recent MRI (gadolinium interference with assay). Ionised calcium remains unaffected but since hypoalbuminaemia is so common, its effect on serum total calcium must always be considered.
- 2. *Calcium chelators*: mild transient hypocalcaemia due to ionised calcium binding to citrate in patients receiving multiple transfusions.
- 3. *Hypocalcaemia* in the critically ill cancer patient (e.g. overwhelming infection, rapidly progressive disease):

multiple mechanisms mediate hypocalcaemia,¹⁷ which may affect up to 70% of patients¹⁸ and be severe and ominous,¹⁹ possibly implicated in the development of critical illness polyneuromyopathy in ICU patients.²⁰

- 4. Acute pancreatitis (e.g. secondary to hypercalcaemia of malignancy, drug therapies or the disease itself). Several incompletely understood mechanisms operate, predominantly precipitation of calcium soaps in the abdominal cavity.^{21,22}
- 5. Acute hyperphosphataemia (leading to bone and extra-skeletal calcium-phosphate precipitation)
 - A. Endogenous: Tissue destruction
 - I. Tumour lysis syndrome: chemotherapy-induced (mostly) or spontaneous (rare), predominantly in haematological cancer but increasingly reported in solid tumours.²³
 - II. Rhabdomyolysis: Following grand mal seizures, electrolyte disorders, infections in susceptible hosts, immobilisation, drugs affecting the central nervous system or drugs used in anaesthesia, limb ischaemia following cancer hypercoagulability and atheroembolism, isolated limb perfusion for locally recurrent melanoma.²⁴
 - III.Acute severe haemolytic anaemia: Autoimmune haemolytic anaemia associated with malignancy (warm antibodies or cold agglutinin), drug-induced, etc.²⁵
 - Exogenous: Drug-induced phosphate load
 Phosphate-based enemas for colon preparation, etc.²⁶
- 6. *PTH deficiency*: parathyroid gland destruction or removal: state after neck surgery for thyroid or laryngeal carcinoma (usually dissection, even minimally invasive), state after neck irradiation, rarely, parathyroid metastasis.^{11,27} Cinacalcet treatment (see below).
- 7. Magnesium depletion, causing PTH resistance (early) and decreased PTH secretion (late): chemotherapy-induced (e.g. cisplatin, cetuximab), antibiotic-induced (e.g. aminoglycosides, amphotericin), paraneoplastic renal magnesium losses (rare), post-obstructive diuresis, or protein-calorie malnutrition²⁸ and poorly understood mechanisms (e.g. in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma).²⁹
- Ectopic calcitonin secretion by the tumour: other than medullary carcinoma of the thyroid (hypocalcaemia not reported), breast and lung carcinomas and hepatomas may produce calcitonin. Hypocalcaemia was very rarely reported,³⁰ possibly associated with concurrent hypomagnesaemia.
- Oncological drugs (other than those mentioned in #4, #5, #6, #7 and #10) often inhibiting osteoclastic bone resorption.³¹
 - A. Chemotherapy: several medications implicated in hypocalcaemia include axitinib, nab-paclitaxel

(hypocalcaemia estimated at $^{33\%}$), estramustine (hypocalcaemia estimated at 20%), high-dose interleukin 2, low-dose leucovorin/5FU, and octreotate (hypocalcaemia estimated at 22%). The cause often remains unknown.³²

- B. Treatment of neoplastic bone lesions, often with initial hypercalcaemia: parenteral bisphosphonates, denosumab,³³ gallium nitrate or strontium 89. Raloxifene, a selective oestrogen receptor modulator which reduces the risk of hormone-receptor-positive breast cancer, inhibits bone resorption and may also cause hypocalcaemia when occult vitamin D deficiency coexists.³⁴
- 10. *Vitamin D deficiency*: this exceedingly common condition⁹ is associated with age, malnutrition, staying indoors, hospitalisation, malabsorption, drugs that metabolise vitamin D (e.g. anticonvulsants), all common among cancer patients.^{7.16}
- II. Malabsorption: can occur in cancer patients either as a result of their specific disease (e.g. primary intestinal T cell lymphoma, enteropathy-associated or not; pancreatic exocrine insufficiency in pancreatic cancer)³⁵ or develop in survivors, being related to their treatment (e.g. bacterial overgrowth after abdominal surgery, adverse effect of radiotherapy).³⁶ In either case, hypocalcaemia is usually associated with low 25-hydroxyvitamin D and magnesium levels and malnutrition is a frequent contributing factor.
- 12. Osteoblastic metastases, with increased calcium uptake and utilisation:¹⁰ primarily carcinoma of the prostate or breast but also reported in gastrointestinal, lung, thyroid, salivary gland, and neuroendocrine cancer. In the rare osteosclerotic myeloma with or without POEMS syndrome, the same mechanism probably underlies hypocalcaemia.³⁷

Commonly, more than one mechanism is operative, highlighting the need for a comprehensive evaluation of all the key 'players' to ensure successful treatment.

Aetiologies clarified and explained through a practical diagnostic workup

An informed use of a short set of clinical and laboratory data suffices for establishing the aetiological basis of hypocalcaemia in most cancer patients (*figure 2*). Such an understanding is imperative for treatment decisions.

Phase 1. Confirm true hypocalcaemia. Since about half of the circulating calcium is bound to serum proteins (mostly albumin), hypoalbuminaemia, which is prevalent in cancer patients, will be associated with decreased serum total calcium but the clinically important ionised calcium fraction (iCa) remains unaffected. So-called 'pseudohypocalcaemia' is present when albumin-adjusted calcium levels are within the normal range (a convenient, commonly used



*In critically ill patients obtain ionised calcium levels. **Also determining acuteness, severity (STC<7.5) and symptoms /QT.

#In early hypomagnesaemia end organ resistance to PTH predominates and PTH levels may be elevated.

formula is to add 0.8 mg/dl calcium for every g/l albumin below 4.0 g/l).¹⁵ In critically ill or post-surgical patients, it is better to obtain direct ionised calcium levels since binding is pH dependent.

Phase 2. Consider acuteness, severity and symptoms. Hypocalcaemia in cancer patients usually develops acutely or sub-acutely. Severity is defined as serum total calcium levels of less than 7.5 mg/dl (iCa < 4.0 mg/dl) and symptoms to look for are related to neuromuscular irritability. They include paraesthesias (circumoral or distal) and tetany, which may be overt (e.g. muscle cramps) or latent (Chvostek or Trousseau's signs). At the serious side of the spectrum, laryngospasm, seizures, cardiac

Schattner et al. Hypocalcaemia of malignancy.

arrhythmias associated with prolongation of the QT interval in the ECG^{38} or vascular collapse may occur.

Phase 3. Assess prominent causes and obtain simple key tests. Although the next step in understanding the pathogenesis of hypocalcaemia is dependent upon determination of PTH status (figure 2),39 this may take time whereas basic clinical evaluation will often yield the likely cause. For example, Hastbacka and Pettila found hypocalcaemia in up to 85% of critically ill patients, including cancer patients.17 Multiple mechanisms had been implicated and in this setting ionised calcium should be measured: severe reductions (iCa < 4.0 mg/dl) seem to be an independent predictor of mortality in patients with severe acute kidney injury.19 The estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) can be readily determined and advanced kidney dysfunction (late stage 4 and over, eGFR < 22 ml/ min/1.73m²) is a prominent cause of hypocalcaemia due to declining calcitriol levels and countering hyperphosphataemia by precipitation with calcium.4° Noticing a neck scar on examination or obtaining a history of neck surgery/irradiation suggests low PTH as the mechanism. Several 'hypocalcaemic' conditions can be readily diagnosed, such as acute pancreatitis whose hallmarks are pain, hyperamylasaemia and supportive imaging,²¹ rhabdomyolysis with marked increases in serum creatine kinase levels, hyperkalaemia, hyperphosphataemia and early hypocalcaemia due to calcium-phosphate deposition in necrotic muscle.4I Drug and chemotherapy history are of the utmost importance and may indicate tumour lysis syndrome, hypomagnesaemia or a specific drug effect (see under Mechanisms) as the likely cause.

Phase 4. Is PTH low (or normal, despite hypocalcaemia)? PTH is essential for calcium homeostasis and for maintaining normocalcaemia. However, the parathyroid glands may have been surgically removed due to cancer in the region (e.g. near-total thyroidectomy, common),42 irradiated, or rarely involved by metastases11 - easily identifiable conditions. Infiltration by iron following multiple transfusions (secondary haemochromatosis) has also been reported in cancer patients.43 Hypomagnesaemia (usually magnesium < 1.2 mg/dl) is commonly drug-induced (e.g. cisplatin, cetuximab)44 but may have many other varied causes in patients with malignancy,²⁸ including a rare paraneoplastic tubular effect. Severe magnesium depletion markedly impairs PTH release in response to hypocalcaemia causing functional hypoparathyroidism, thereby also interfering with renal calcitriol production. Concurrently, PTH resistance develops, causing skeletal resistance and impaired PTH-induced calcium release from bone.27,45 Hypomagnesaemia is frequent in hospitalised patients. A

study from the Mayo Clinic found a prevalence of 20.2% among 288,120 patients.⁴⁶ Low levels were particularly common in haematology/oncology patients and often unrecognised unless specifically tested for. It is an important precursor of hypocalcaemia, found in 23.3% of patients with hypocalcaemia not due to renal failure.⁴⁷ This hypocalcaemia is refractory to calcium but responds to continuous magnesium supplementation. Cinacalcet, a calcimimetic drug used in treating parathyroid carcinoma (or secondary hyperparathyroidism), inhibits PTH release and is another potential cause of 'low-PTH hypocalcaemia' in malignancy, which is usually asymptomatic and transient.⁴⁸

Phase 5. Hypocalcaemia associated with elevated PTH concentrations. Otherwise, PTH is always increased in response to hypocalcaemia in an attempt at maintaining homeostasis. Malignant disease itself or its treatment can cause chronic kidney disease and acute kidney injury by a variety of prerenal, intrarenal (glomerular, tubulointerstitial, vascular) or postrenal mechanisms which often act concurrently and cause electrolyte abnormalities.49 With significant renal dysfunction and hyperphosphataemia,4° calcium-phosphate binding and precipitation cause hypocalcaemia. Thus, GFR and serum phosphate determinations are indispensable in evaluating hypocalcaemia. Exogenous administration of phosphate loads²⁶ or extensive cell destruction²³⁻²⁵ releasing intracellular phosphate into the extracellular space during rhabdomyolysis, severe haemolysis or tumour lysis syndrome may also cause hypocalcaemia in cancer. With the emergence of new effective and targeted anticancer drugs, the incidence of tumour lysis syndrome is likely to rise.23,50 It is often associated with cytotoxic or monoclonal antibody treatment of haematological malignancies, but may also develop after radiation therapy, in treated solid tumours, and spontaneously.20 The greater the tumour burden and sensitivity to treatment, the greater the risk that massive tumour-cell lysis develops, releasing massive quantities of intracellular contents (potassium, phosphate, nucleic acids) into the systemic circulation and creating an oncological emergency. Acute kidney injury is central in tumour lysis syndrome and severe secondary hypocalcaemia to counter the phosphate load can be life-threatening and persistent.50 In rhabdomyolysis, when liberated phosphate from damaged muscle reaches critical levels in the serum, calcium-phosphate crystals form and are deposited in necrotic muscle.51 Hypocalcaemia in critically ill patients and in acute pancreatitis were discussed above. Importantly, hypocalcaemia is a recognised adverse reaction of multiple drugs used either in the treatment of cancer or its complications.³¹ Truly diverse mechanisms may be involved, as presented in

Schattner et al. Hypocalcaemia of malignancy.

detail above. They include drug-induced effects, tumour lysis syndrome, hypomagnesaemia, chelation, vitamin D deficiency, pancreatitis, drugs causing phosphate overload and inhibition of bone resorption. Each of these mechanisms is well supported by the literature, but some still remain poorly understood.³² The patient's full drug history and awareness of these adverse drug reactions will establish the diagnosis.

Severe vitamin D deficiency (defined by serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations of < 20-25 nmol/l; hypocalcaemia is not usually observed above this level)39 is a major cause of hypocalcaemia, or a susceptibility to develop hypocalcaemia. Although not all these individuals develop overt osteomalacia, and retrospective case series show that serum calcium is often normal even in biopsy-proven nutritional osteomalacia,52 this cut-off is useful and identifies patients at high risk.9 Such 'hypovitaminosis D' is common among elderly patients and cancer patients in particular7 since they are likely to stay indoors without sun exposure (reducing cutaneous production) and suffer significant nutritional deficiencies (reducing intake). Commonly associated renal disease49 affects renal production of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, or it may be malabsorbed or lost in cancer-associated nephrotic syndrome. As many as 74% of oncology outpatients in the study by Churilla et al. had low vitamin D levels,7 but a higher prevalence can be expected in the many patients who require hospitalisation.8 Nevertheless, in osteomalacia, serum calcium is reduced in about 1:3 patients only (while alkaline phosphatase increases are almost inevitable),52 and symptomatic hypocalcaemia is seen in ~10%. Severe reductions are particularly seen when a concurrent cause of hypocalcaemia coexists.

Avid calcium intake by extensive osteoblastic metastases (predominantly in prostate or breast cancer) is an intriguing cause of hypocalcaemia in cancer, which may rarely constitute its presenting feature.¹¹ The mechanism of bone metastasis has been well studied: once within the bone microenvironment, prostate tumour cells proliferate, releasing multiple cytokines and growth factors which stimulate osteoblasts / stromal cells proliferation and production of further growth factors that also affect osteoclasts. A vicious cycle of tumour-cell growth and calcium-consuming new (but fragile) bone formation is propagated.53.54 This syndrome involves very common diseases which often metastasise to bone and therefore even low percentages translate into large numbers of patients. Among 155 patients with solid tumours metastatic to bone, up to 13% had hypocalcaemia and their metastases were almost exclusively osteoblastic.14 In stage M1 prostate cancer (spread beyond the lymph nodes), the prevalence of hypocalcaemia was double (27%). Tucci et al. studied a consecutive case series of 192 patients and reported

⁵¹ cases of albumin-corrected hypocalcaemia (26.6%), ¹²⁵ patients with normocalcaemia and ¹⁶ (8.3%) had hypercalcaemia.⁵⁶ While hypercalcaemia was associated with a poor prognosis (increased adverse skeletal events or death), hypocalcaemia was not. This finding was unexpected, especially since hypocalcaemic cases had a higher bone tumour load, but it was confirmed by Riancho et al.¹⁴ and Berruti et al. who consecutively enrolled ¹¹² patients and concluded that hypocalcaemia was usually mild and asymptomatic.⁵⁷ Despite an osteoblastic appearance on radiography, these metastases are also associated with increased osteoclast activity, providing the rational for treatment with osteoclast-targeted agents such as bisphosphonates or denosumab³³ but also increasing the risk of significant hypocalcaemia.^{54,55}

Lastly, finding one operative mechanism does not exclude the common existence of additional contributing ones. For example, hypoalbuminaemia and acute kidney injury may be found together with severe hypocalcaemia due to osteoblastic metastases and significant nutritional vitamin D deficiency, as in our patient; or as Bergkamp et al. eloquently demonstrate, an associated cancer or chemotherapy-related obtunded PTH response.⁵⁸

Prognosis

Unlike hypercalcaemia of malignancy which is limited to three major mechanisms and its development is associated with poor prognosis,² hypocalcaemia as a prognostic factor in cancer had never been studied systematically. However, its highly diverse mechanisms already suggest a more complex picture. Provided the patient is not critically ill,¹⁷ many cases of hypocalcaemia in cancer are relatively mild, asymptomatic and transient (e.g. most drug-related hypocalcaemia or hypovitaminosis D).31,52 The prognostic implications of hypocalcaemia in the setting of osteoblastic metastases have been discussed above56.57 and contrasted with hypercalcaemia.56 Hypocalcaemia can and should be anticipated in many of the more potentially significant and symptomatic syndromes (e.g. hypomagnesaemia, tumour lysis syndrome or bisphosphonate treatment) and can be reduced by monitoring before and during treatment and by the application of prophylactic measures as indicated (for example, among patients considered at risk of tumour lysis syndrome or magnesium depletion).50,59 Such measures may prevent some cases of hypocalcaemia or lead to their early detection and correction and to improvement in prognosis. However, symptomatic and even life-threatening hypocalcaemia in the context of cancer may still occur and mandate urgent treatment. Notwithstanding this variability, the underlying malignancy, its stage and amenability to treatment remain the cardinal prognostic factors in hypocalcaemia of malignancy.

Treatment

Treatment has also not been studied systematically, and recommendations are based on expert panel opinion, consensus statements and accepted practice or clinical experience, non-controlled trials or hard evidence. Generally, getting an early grasp on the pathogenesis (figure 2) is highly important, since calcium administration will hardly be effective unless essential deficiencies (for example, magnesium, vitamin D, or both) are attended to, and specific pathogenetic cascades mediating hypocalcaemia (for example, acute pancreatitis, tumour lysis syndrome or drug treatment) are targeted.50 Otherwise, treatment and monitoring does not differ from that of other settings of hypocalcaemia. The rate of decline, severity (usually serum total calcium < 7.5 mg/dl) and presence/severity of symptoms or QT prolongation (mild, severe, or life-threatening) determine treatment intensity. Several principles summarise the treatment of hypocalcaemia based on expert advice. First, the administration of calcium to severely hyperphosphataemic patients may result in widespread deleterious calciumphosphate deposition. Combined serum phosphate > 8 mg/ dl and symptomatic hypocalcaemia require dialysis to correct both. In asymptomatic patients, oral phosphate binders may improve hypocalcaemia too. Second, in symptomatic patients with associated hypomagnesaemia (< I mg/dl), intravenous magnesium sulphate (2 g in saline given over 30 min and followed by 4 g over 12 hrs) will allow correction of hypocalcaemia. Monitoring is required, particularly in patients with impaired renal function. Refractory unexplained hypocalcaemia in a susceptible patient may respond to magnesium even when normomagnesaemic.28 Third, in our experience, most patients will need concomitant vitamin D repletion (typically, 50,000 IU of vitamin D2 or D3 repeated as necessary). Finally, symptomatic / QT prolongation in hypocalcaemia patients (with neither hypomagnesaemia nor hyperphosphataemia) or patients with an acute decline < 7.5 mg/dl who will likely become symptomatic mandate intravenous calcium treatment. Calcium gluconate (1-2 g of 10% solution in 50 ml 5% dextrose given over 20 min, monitored and repeated) is an effective treatment.

CONCLUSIONS

With the advent of new potent drugs for the treatment of cancer and its skeletal complications, the increasing prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency and longer survival of patients with cancer, hypocalcaemia in malignancy is increasingly encountered in both hospitalised and ambulatory patients but nevertheless remains poorly recognised. A myriad of mechanisms may be involved, often concurrently, and they can often be evaluated almost instantaneously at the bedside. Their recognition and timely address may improve health outcomes and is of special importance in patients who may develop severe, even life-threatening symptoms.

DISCLOSURES

The author declares no conflict of interest. No funding or financial support was received.

REFERENCES

- Stewart AF. Clinical practice. Hypercalcemia associated with cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:373-9.
- Clines GA, Guise TA. Hypercalcemia of malignancy and basic research on mechanisms responsible for osteolytic and osteoblastic metastases to bone. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2005;12:549-83.
- Buckley O, O'Keeffe S, Geoghegan T, et al. 99mTc bone scintigraphy superscans: a review. Nucl Med Commun. 2007;28:521-7.
- Corrales-Medina VF, Alvarez KN, Weissfeld LA, et al. Association between hospitalization for pneumonia and subsequent risk of cardiovascular disease. JAMA. 2015;313:264-74.
- Morgand M, Buffet M, Busson M, et al. High prevalence of infectious events in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and genetic relationship with toll-like receptor 9 polymorphisms: experience of the French Thrombotic Microangiopathies Reference Center. Transfusion. 2014;54:389-97.
- 6. Siddique A, Kowdley KV. Approach to a patient with elevated serum alkaline phosphatase. Clin Liver Dis. 2012;16:199-229.
- Churilla TM, Brereton HD, Klem M, Peters CA. Vitamin D deficiency is widespread in cancer patients and correlates with advanced disease stage disease: a community oncology experience. Nutr Cancer. 2012;64:521-5.
- Thomas MK, Lloyd-Jones DM, Thadhani RI, et al. Hypovitaminosis D in medical inpatients. N Engl J Med. 1998;338:777-83.
- Hanley DA, Davison KS. Vitamin D insufficiency in North America. J Nutr. 2005;135:332-7.
- Fokkema MI, de Heide LJM, van Schelven WD, Hamdy NAT. Severe hypocalcaemia associated with extensive osteoblastic metastases in a patient with prostate cancer. Neth J Med. 2005;63:34-7.
- Cooksley T, Banerjee M, Younis N. Metastatic breast cancer presenting with profound hypocalcemia. South Med. J 2010;103:480-1.
- 12. Blomqvist CP. A hospital survey of hypocalcemia in patients with malignant disease. Acta Med Scand. 1986;220:167-73.
- D'Erasmo E, Acca M, Celi FS, et al. A hospital survey of hypocalcemia and hyperphosphatemia in malignancy. Tumori. 1991;77:311-4.
- 14. Riancho JA, Arjona R, Valle R, et al. The clinical spectrum of hypocalcemia associated with bone metastases. J Intern Med. 1989;226:449-52.
- Riancho JA, Arjona R, Sanz J, et al. Is routine measurement of ionized calcium worthwhile in patients with cancer? Postgrad Med J. 1991;67:350-3.
- Dusso AS, Brown AJ, Slatopolsky E. Vitamin D. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2005;289:F8-28.
- Hastbacka J, Pettila V. Prevalence and predictive value of ionized hypocalcemia among critically ill patients. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2003;47:1264-9.A
- Desai TK, Carlson RW, Geheb MA. Prevalence and clinical implications of hypocalcemia in acutely ill patients in a medical intensive care setting. Am J Med. 1988;84:209-14.
- Afshinnia F, Belanger K, Palevsky PM, Young EW. Effect of ionized calcium on outcomes in acute kidney injury needing renal replacement therapy: secondary analysis of the Acute Renal Failure Trial Network Study. Ren Fail. 2013;35:1310-8.

Schattner et al. Hypocalcaemia of malignancy.

- 20. Anastasopoulos D, Kefaliakos A, Michalopoulos A. Is plasma calcium concentration implicated in the development of critical illness polyneuropathy and myopathy? Crit Care. 2011;15:R247.
- 21. Pitchumoni CS, Agarwal N, Jain NK. Systemic complications of acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 1988;83:597-606.
- 22. Bhattacharya SK, Luther RW, Pate JW, et al. Soft tissue calcium and magnesium content in acute pancreatitis in the dog: calcium accumulation, a mechanism for hypocalcemia in acute pancreatitis. J Lab Clin Med. 1985;105:422-7.
- 23. Wilson FP, Berns JS. Tumor lysis syndrome: new challenges and recent advances. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2014;21:18-26.
- 24. Parekh R. Rhabdomyolysis: advances in diagnosis and treatment. Emerg Med Pract. 2012;14:1-15.
- 25. Baba AA, Maharaj D. Hypocalcemia in autoimmune hemolytic anemia and pernicious anemia. Postgrad Med J. 1988;64:61-2.
- 26. Schattner, A, Kopolovic J, Rapoport J. A 71-year-old woman with abdominal pain and acute renal failure. CMAJ. 2007;177:454-5.
- 27. Brandi ML, Bilezikian JP, Shoback D, et al. Management of hypoparathyroidism: statement and guidelines. J Clin Endocrin Metab. 2016;jc20153907. [Epub ahead of print]
- al-Ghandi SM, Cameron EC, Sutton RA. Magnesium deficiency: pathophysiologic and clinical overview. Am J Kid Dis. 1994;24:737-52.
- Morgan M, Maloney D, Duvic M. Hypomagnesemia and hypocalcemia in mycosis fungoides: a retrospective case series. Leuk Lymphoma. 2002;43:1297-302.
- Maguire PJ, Macdonald JS. Hypocalcemia associated with a calcitoninproducing hepatocellular carcinoma. Arch Intern Med. 1981;141:687-8.
- Liamis G, Milionis HJ, Elisaf M. A review of drug-induced hypocalcemia. J Bone Miner Metab. 2009;27:635-42.
- van Vliet EI, de Herder WW, de Rijke YB, et al. Hypocalcemia after treatment with [177Lu-DOTAo,Tyr3]octreotate. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2013;40:1843-52.
- 33. Fizazi K, Carducci M, Smith M, et al. Denosumab versus zoledronic acid for the treatment of bone metastases in men with castrationresistant prostate cancer: a randomised, double-blind study. Lancet. 2011;377:813-22.
- 34. Vu TD, Varadarajan S, Seeman E, et al. Hypocalcemia induced by raloxifene. Curr Drug Saf. 2012;7:176-8.
- Sikkens EC, Cahen DL, de Witt J, et al. A prospective assessment of the natural course of exocrine pancreatic function in patients with pancreatic head tumor. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;48:e43-6.
- 36. Vistad I, Kristensen JB, Fossa SD, et al. Intestinal malabsorption in long-term survivors of cervical cancer treated with radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;73:1141-7.
- 37. Ludescher C, Grünewald K, Fend F, et al. Osteosclerotic myeloma with polyneuropathy and hypocalcemia. Blut. 1989;58:207-10.
- 38. Podrid PJ. ECG response: Circulation. 2013;128:869.
- Hannan FM, Thakker RV. Investigating hypocalcemia. BMJ. 2013;346:f2213.
- Langman CB, Cannata Andia JB. Calcium in chronic kidney disease: myths and realities. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;5:S1-S2.

- McMahon GM, Zeng X, Waikar SS. A risk prediction score for kidney failure or mortality in rhabdomyolysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173:1821-7.
- 42. Brandi ML, Bilezikian JP, Shoback D, et al. Management of hypoparathyroidism: statement and guidelines. J Clin Endocrin Metab. 2016;jc20153907. [Epub ahead of print].
- Jeong HK, An JH, Kim HS, et al. Hypoparathyroidism and subclinical hypothyroidism with secondary hemochromatosis. Endocrinol Metab. 2014;29:91-5.
- 44. Schrag D, Chung KY, Flombaum C, Saltz L. Cetuximab therapy and symptomatic hypomagnesemia. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97:1221-4.
- Rude RK, Oldham SB, Singer FR. Functional hypoparathyroidism and parathyroid hormone end-organ resistance in human magnesium deficiency. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1976;5:209-24.
- Cheungpasitporn W, Thongprayoon C, Qian Q. Dysmagnesemia in hospitalized patients: prevalence and prognostic importance. Mayo Clin Proc. 2015;90:1001-10.
- Wong ET, Rude RK, Singer FR, Shaw ST Jr. A high prevalence of hypomagnesemia and hypermagnesemia in hospitalized patients. Am J Clin Pathol. 1983;79:348-5.
- Siverberg SJ, Rubin MR, Faiman C, et al. Cinacalcet hydrochloride reduces the serum calcium concentration in inoperable parathyroid carcinoma. J Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:3803-8.
- Humphreys BD, Soiffer RJ, Magee CC. Renal failure associated with cancer and its treatment: an update. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16:151-61.
- Rampello E, Fricia T, Malaguarnera M. The management of tumor lysis syndrome. Nat Clin Pract Oncol. 2006;3:438-47.
- Parekh R. Rhabdomyolysis: advances in diagnosis and treatment. Emerg Med Pract. 2012;14:1-15.
- Bhambri R, Naik V, Malhotra N, et al. Changes in bone mineral density following treatment of osteomalacia. J Clin Densitom. 2006;9:120-7.
- Ye L, Kynaston H, Jiang WG. Bone metastasis in prostate cancer: molecular and cellular mechanisms (Review). Int J Mol Med. 2007;20:103-11.
- 54. Suzman DL, Boikos SA, Carducci MA. Bone-targeting agents in prostate cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2014;33:619-28.
- 55. Gartrell BA, Saad F. Managing bone metastases and reducing skeletal events in prostate cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2014;11:335-45.
- 56. Tucci M, Mosca A, Lamanna G, et al. Prognostic significance of disordered calcium metabolism in hormone-refractory prostate cancer patients with metastatic bone disease. Prostate Cancer Prost Dis. 2009;12:94-9.
- 57. Berruti A, Dogliotti L, Bitossi R, et al. Incidence of skeletal complications in patients with bone metastatic prostate cancer and hormone refractory disease: predictive role of bone resorption and formation markers evaluation at baseline. J Urol. 2000;164:1248-53.
- Bergkamp FJM, van Berkel AM, van der Linden PWG, Gorgels JPMC. Unexpected prolonged extreme hypocalcaemia and an inadequate PTH response in a patient with metastatic breast cancer. Neth J Med. 2003;61:371-5.
- Ayuk J, Gittoes NJL. How should hypomagnesemia be investigated and treated? Clin Endocrinology. 2011;75:743-6.

Schattner et al. Hypocalcaemia of malignancy.

How the concept of biochemical response influenced the management of primary biliary cholangitis over time

W.J. Lammers^{1*}, M. Leeman¹, C.I.J. Ponsioen², K. Boonstra², K.J. van Erpecum³,
F.H.J. Wolfhagen⁴, J.Ph. Kuyvenhoven⁵, J.M. Vrolijk⁶, J.P.H. Drenth⁷, E.M. Witteman⁸,
C.M.J. van Nieuwkerk⁹, B.W. van der Spek¹⁰, B.J.M. Witteman¹¹, G.W Erkelens¹²,
M.A.M.T. Verhagen¹³, S.A.C. van Tuyl¹³, A.C. Poen¹⁴, J.T. Brouwer¹⁵, F. ter Borg¹⁶, G.H. Koek¹⁷,
T.J.M. van Ditzhuijsen¹⁸, B.E. Hansen¹, H.R. van Buuren¹ on behalf of a Dutch
Multicenter PBC Study Group, "corresponding author: tel.: +31 (0)10-7033040,
fax: +31 (0)10-7032908, email: w.lammers@erasmusmc.nl

¹Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus University Medical Center Rotterdam, the Netherlands, ²Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Academic Medical Center Amsterdam, the Netherlands, ³Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Medical Center Utrecht, the Netherlands, ⁴Department of Gastroenterology, Albert Schweitzer Hospital, Dordrecht, the Netherlands, ⁵Department of Gastroenterology, Kennemer Gasthuis, Haarlem, the Netherlands, ⁶Department of Gastroenterology, Rijnstate Hospital, Arnhem, the Netherlands, ⁷Department of Gastroenterology, Radboudumc, Nijmegen, the Netherlands, ⁸Department of Gastroenterology, Canisius Wilhelmina Hospital, Nijmegen, the Netherlands, ⁹Department of Gastroenterology, VU Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, ¹⁰Department of Gastroenterology, Medical Center Alkmaar, the Netherlands, "Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Gelderse Vallei Hosptial, Ede, the Netherlands, ¹²Department of Gastroenterology, Gelre Hospitals, Apeldoorn, the Netherlands, ¹³Department of Gastroenterology, Diakonessenhuis, Utrecht, the Netherlands, ¹⁴Department of Gastroenterology, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, the Netherlands, ¹⁵Department of Gastroenterology, Reinier de Graaf Gasthuis, Delft, the Netherlands, ¹⁶Department of Gastroenterology, Deventer Hospital, Deventer, the Netherlands, ¹⁷Department of Gastroenterology, Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, the Netherlands, ¹⁸Department of Gastroenterology, Jeroen Bosch Hospital, 's Hertogenbosch, the Netherlands

ABSTRACT

Background: Criteria assessing biochemical response to ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) are established risk stratification tools in primary biliary cholangitis (PBC). We aimed to evaluate to what extent liver tests influenced patient management during a three decade period, and whether this changed over time.

Methods: 851 Dutch PBC patients diagnosed between 1988 and 2012 were reviewed to assess patient management in relation to liver test results during UDCA treatment. To do so, biochemical response at one year was analysed retrospectively according to Paris-1 criteria.

Results: Response was assessable for 687/851 (81%) patients; 157/687 non-responders. During a follow-up of 8.8 years (IQR 4.8-13.9), 141 died and 30 underwent liver transplantation. Transplant-free survival of non-responders

(60%) was significantly worse compared with responders (87%) (p < 0.0001). Management was modified in 46/157 (29%) non-responders. The most frequent change observed, noted in 26/46 patients, was an increase in UDCA dosage. Subsequently, 9/26 (35%) non-responders became responders within the next two years. Steroid treatment was started in one patient; 19 patients were referred to a tertiary centre. No trend towards more frequent changes in management over time was observed (p = 0.10).

Conclusion: Changes in medical management occurred in a minority of non-responders. This can largely be explained by the lack of accepted response criteria and of established second-line treatments for PBC. Nevertheless, the observation that response-guided management did not increase over time suggests that awareness of the concept of biochemical response requires further attention, particularly since new treatment options for PBC will soon become available.

KEYWORDS

Autoimmune liver disease, cholestasis, second-line therapy

INTRODUCTION

Primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) is a chronic cholestatic liver disease of autoimmune origin that mainly affects middle-aged women.¹ To date, ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) at a recommended dosage of 13-15 mg/kg/day is the only approved therapy.^{2,3}

An association between laboratory parameters and outcome during treatment with UDCA was first reported in 1999.4 Angulo and colleagues showed that patients with serum alkaline phosphatase levels < 2 times the upper limit of normal (ULN) following six months of UDCA treatment were less likely to have treatment failure. Subsequent studies found that not only levels of alkaline phosphatase,5-7 but also other biochemical variables including aspartate transaminase (AST), bilirubin and albumin values, following one or two years of UDCA treatment were predictive of liver transplant-free survival.^{8-II} Generally, patients fulfilling the criteria for biochemical response were shown to have a normal life expectancy, comparable with a matched general population, while non-responders remained at risk for requiring liver transplantation or premature death.⁵ Generally, Paris-1 criteria are considered to have the best predictability of transplant-free survival as validated in large studies, such as from the Global PBC Study Group and the UK PBC Consortium,9,12-14 and their usage has been recommended by an international PBC expert panel.¹⁵ Despite the clear relevance of biochemical response to UDCA, it has not been established whether biochemical response is considered an important objective in clinical practice and is used to guide further decision-making, in particular on possible additional second-line treatment. Therefore, we aimed to assess to what extent laboratory parameters during UDCA treatment, using Paris-I biochemical response criteria, influenced management decisions in a large and nationwide cohort of PBC patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient population

Patients were derived from a Dutch multicentre study¹⁶ and a large epidemiological study regarding primary

sclerosing cholangitis and primary biliary cholangitis in the Netherlands.¹⁷ The protocol for this project was approved by the Central Committee for Research Ethics in Utrecht and the local ethics committees of participating hospitals (trialregister.nl no.: NTR2813).

Patients were diagnosed according to established criteria,^{2,3} and included between November 1988 and December 2011 across 43 university and general hospitals. Patients with concomitant liver disorders at initial diagnosis of PBC, such as viral, alcoholic and autoimmune hepatitis, were excluded.

Endpoints

For the current study, entry (baseline) was defined as the date of starting UDCA therapy. Biochemical response to UDCA treatment was retrospectively assessed according to Paris-I criteria,⁷ generally accepted as the criteria with the best performance in predicting outcome.^{12,14} Paris-I was defined as alkaline phosphatase < 3 times the ULN, AST < 2 times the ULN and bilirubin \leq I mg/dl after one year of UDCA treatment, and Paris-2 criteria,¹⁰ defined as alkaline phosphatase \leq 1.5 times the ULN, AST \leq 1.5 times the ULN and bilirubin \leq I mg/dl after one year of UDCA treatment. A composite of liver transplantation and death was used as clinical endpoint. Patients who did not reach a clinical endpoint were censored at their last follow-up visit.

Data collection

The original database comprised clinical and laboratory data at baseline and during follow-up. Clinical data included gender, age, details about the diagnosis of PBC, anti-mitochondrial antibody (AMA) status, liver histology obtained within one year of study entry, UDCA treatment (start date and dosage), and outcome (liver transplantation and death). Laboratory data (alkaline phosphatase, AST, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), bilirubin, albumin and platelets) were collected once a year.

During site visits, additional follow-up information was gathered from medical charts for UDCA non-responders within the next two years following the retrospective assessment of biochemical response (*figure 1*). Data collected included changes in UDCA dosage, prescription of additional medication, and referral to tertiary centres.

Statistical analyses

Normally distributed data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation and skewed data were expressed as median and interquartile range (IQR). Differences between responders and non-responders were assessed by using the independent t-test and non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test, respectively. To assess differences between responders and non-responders concerning categorical variables, the



Biochemical response to UDCA was retrospectively calculated after one year therapy using Paris-I criteria.⁷ Subsequently, modifications in treatment management were evaluated in the following two years.

Pearson's chi-squared test was used. The Kaplan-Meier method was applied for time-to-event analysis and survival difference was tested with log-rank test. Logistic regression modelling was performed to assess the association between baseline factors and UDCA response after one year of follow-up in univariate and multivariable approaches.

A p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Analyses were performed using the statistical package of IBM SPSS Statistics 21.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago IL, USA).

The study started at initiation of ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA).

RESULTS

Study cohort

The study cohort comprised 851 UDCA-treated PBC patients. The Paris-1 criteria could be assessed in 687 (81%) patients; 77% of patients were classified as responders and 23% as non-responders (*figure 2*). Non-responders were generally younger, at a more advanced disease stage, diagnosed in an earlier era and had higher serum bilirubin, alkaline phosphatase, AST and ALT values and lower albumin at baseline (*table 1*).

The median follow-up period of the entire cohort was 8.8 years (IQR, 4.8-13.9) and follow-up for responders was significantly longer than for non-responders (9.2 vs. 7.8 years respectively, p = 0.047). During follow-up, 141 patients died and 30 underwent a liver transplantation (47 and 24 non-responders, respectively). Ten-year transplant-free survival for non-responders was significantly lower than for responders (60% vs. 87%, p < 0.0001) (*figure 3*).

Modification in management

Management was modified in 46/157 (29%) non-responders. The most frequently applied change was an increase in the UDCA dosage (26/46, 57%). Steroid therapy was started in only one non-responder. No other





Figure 3. Liver transplant-free survival rates according to biochemical response (Paris-1 criteria)



Liver transplant-free survival estimated with Kaplan Meier. The 10-year transplant-free survival of non-responders was significantly lower than of responders (60% vs. 87%, p < 0.0001).

drugs were prescribed as second-line therapy. Nineteen patients were referred for a second opinion to a tertiary centre. For 6/157 (4%) non-responders management changes were not extractable from the medical charts.

Lammers et al. Biochemical response in primary biliary cholangitis.

	Responders N = 530	Non-responders N = 157	P-value
Mean age at study entry, years	57.1 ± 11.6	53.7 ± 12.9	0.002
Female, n (%)	461 (87%)	136 (87%)	0.91
AMA+, n (%) ^a	501 (95%)	143 (91%)	0.22
Biochemical disease stage, ^b n (%)			< 0.0001
Early	306 (58%)	42 (27%)	
Moderately advanced	63 (12%)	54 (34%)	
Advanced	5 (1%)	29 (19%)	
Not available	156 (29%)	32 (20%)	
Median year of diagnosis (IQR)	2000 (1993-2005)	1995 (1988-2002)	< 0.0001
Year of diagnosis, time frame	1973-2011	1961-2011	
Median UDCA dosage/kg ^c			
Year of diagnosis < 2000	9.84 (9.04-11.36)	9.49 (8.70-10.38)	0.056
Year of diagnosis ≥ 2000	13.38 (11.25-15.00)	13.43 (10.81-16.19)	0.46
Laboratory data at entry			
Bilirubin (xULN)	0.57 (0.42-0.76)	1.17 (0.67-2.03)	< 0.0001
Not available	42 (8%)	12 (8%)	
Alkaline phosphatase (xULN)	1.95 (1.32-3.05)	4.15 (2.56-6.19)	< 0.0001
Not available	25 (5%)	5 (3%)	
Aspartate transaminase (xULN)	1.33 (0.95-2.00)	2.20 (1.53-3.10)	< 0.0001
Not available	23 (4%)	7 (4%)	
Alanine aminotransferase (xULN)	1.52 (1.02-2.50)	2.49 (1.54-3.65)	0.005
Not available	20 (4%)	5 (3%)	
Albumin (xLLN)	1.14 (1.06-1.22)	1.08 (0.94-1.20)	< 0.0001
Not available	148 (28%)	31 (20%)	

Table 1. Clinical and biochemical characteristics at baseline of responders and non-responders according to Paris-1

 criteria

AMA = anti-mitochondrial antibody; IQR = interquartile range; UDCA = ursodeoxycholic acid; ULN = upper limit of normal; LLN = Lower Limit of Normal. ^aAMA status was not available for 1 patient (responder); ^bdisease severity was classified according to bilirubin and albumin levels. Early disease, normal albumin and bilirubin; moderately advanced disease, abnormal albumin or bilirubin; advanced disease, both albumin and bilirubin abnormal;¹⁵ ^cdosage/kg was not calculable for 90/687 (13%) patients: 71/530 (13%) responders and 19/157 (12%) non-responders.

Relation between publications on biochemical response and changes in patient management

In 1999, the first study was published addressing the significance of biochemical response.⁴ In our cohort, the therapeutic approach was modified in 33/104 (32%) of the non-responders before 1999 as compared with 13/53 (25%) after that year (p = 0.10). The key paper by Pares et al. on biochemical response was published in $2006.^5$ When comparing the proportion of management changes

in non-responders before and after 2006, again no clear difference was found (p = 0.62).

Impact of increase in UDCA dosage

After one year of treatment with UDCA, the dosage was increased in a number of non-responders and responders within the following two years. Importantly, 9/26 (35%) of the non-responders became responders within the next two years following dosage increase. When applying the

Iable 2. Baseline factors predictive of response according to Paris-1 criteria									
	Univariate analysis		Multivariable analysis						
	Odds ratio (95% CI) P-value		Odds ratio (95% CI)	P-value					
Male sex	1.03 (0.61-1.74)	0.91	-	-					
AMA positivity	1.75 (0.90-3.42)	0.10	-	-					
Advancing age at study entry	1.02 (I.0I-I.04)	0.002	1.04 (1.01-1.06)	0.002					
Year of diagnosis	1.06 (1.03-1.08)	2.39*10 ⁻⁷	-	-					
UDCA dosage per kg	1.09 (1.02-1.16)	0.0095	1.15 (1.05-1.26)	0.003					
Disease stage ^a				I.94*I0 ⁻¹³					
Moderate	0.16 (0.10-0.26)	I.49 [*] I0 ⁻¹³	0.18 (0.10-0.32)	7.10*10-9					
Advanced	0.02 (0.01-0.06)	2.48*10-13	0.02 (0.01-0.08)	5.20 [*] IO ^{-IO}					
Bilirubin (xULN) values	0.41 (0.32-0.54)	I.49*10 ⁻¹⁰	-	-					
Alkaline phosphatase (xULN) values	0.65 (0.59-0.72)	7.92 [*] 10 ⁻¹⁹	0.69 (0.60-0.78)	9.93*10 ^{.9}					
AST (xULN) values	0.78 (0.69-0.89)	0.0001	-	n.s.					
ALT (xULN) values	0.90 (0.82-0.99)	0.026	-	-					
Albumin (xLLN) values	33.05 (7.86-138.93)	0.000002	-	-					

Table 2. Basel	ine fa	actors i	nredi	ictive o	f res	nonse	accord	lino	to	Paris-	1 cri	teri	0
Tuble 2. Dwolv	1100 10	NOVOI 5		000000	105	ponse	0000000	vvi v <u>s</u>	10		1 01 0	1011	v

^aDisease stage based on albumin and bilirubin according to biochemical disease classification of Ter Borg et al.¹⁵ AMA = anti-mitochondrial antibody; UDCA = ursodeoxycholic acid; ULN = upper limit of normal; AST = aspartate transaminase; ALT = alanine aminotransferase. LLN = Lower Limit of Normal.

more strict Paris-2 criteria for response,¹⁰ 6/48 (13%) of non-responders became responders.

Eighteen of 26 (69%) non-responders in whom the UDCA dosage was increased were initially dosed inadequately (median daily dosage 9.60 mg/kg; IQR 8.80-11.16 mg/kg) according to current treatment guidelines.^{2,3} Further analysis showed that this mainly applied to patients diagnosed in 1999 or before (median dosage 9.33 mg/kg; IQR 8.21-9.93 mg/kg) and not for those diagnosed in 2000 or thereafter (median dosage 12.69 mg/kg; IQR 10.92-17.98 mg/kg).

Baseline factors predictive of response

Since biochemical response is of major importance in risk stratification, baseline factors were determined that were predictive of response (*table 2*). Higher serum albumin levels and higher UDCA dosage per kg were associated with increased response to UDCA treatment, whereas higher levels of bilirubin, alkaline phosphatase, AST, ALT and more advanced disease stage (defined as abnormal bilirubin and/or albumin¹⁶) were all associated with decreased response. On multivariable analysis more advanced disease stage, lower UDCA dosage per kg and higher serum alkaline phosphatase levels were independent factors predictive of poor response.

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this large nationwide multicentre cohort study in PBC is the first to assess potential changes in patient management prompted by the one-year response to UDCA treatment. We found that non-response to treatment did not result in management changes in nearly two-thirds of cases. In those patients in whom management was influenced, the most frequent change was an increase in the dosage of UDCA. Our data further showed that the proportion of UDCA non-responders in whom management was modified did not increase over time, suggesting that awareness of the concept of biochemical response in clinical practice may still be suboptimal.

Few data are available with respect to treatment policy based upon objective response criteria in PBC. Recently, preliminary data of an online survey among 200 gastroenterologists and hepatologists in the UK were presented;¹⁸ 42% of gastroenterologists and 76% of hepatologists stated they used biochemical response criteria (e.g. Paris-I criteria⁸ or Barcelona criteria⁵) to evaluate UDCA treatment. However, no information was provided about further treatment decisions based upon the observed response. Obviously, the results of our study should be interpreted with caution. In particular, it must be recognised that the majority of included patients were treated with UDCA well before emergence of the concept of biochemical response and that, in the context of this study, this response was assessed retrospectively. Therefore, by definition, decisions with respect to patient management could not have been influenced by assessing treatment response with one of the currently available tools. Irrespective of a formal response evaluation, however, our data suggest that management was modified in only a minority of cases despite persistently, occasionally markedly, abnormal biochemical liver tests. Moreover, our data demonstrate that during the last decade, despite increased awareness of the importance of sufficient biochemical improvement upon treatment with UDCA, this did not yet translate into an increase in response-guided management in general medical practice.

Another major factor that must be stressed when interpreting the results of the present study is the lack of evidence-based alternative treatments for PBC until now. This may largely explain why potentially effective drugs, including budesonide and fibrates, were rarely used. During recent years, evidence is accumulating that fibrates may have an additional, beneficial effect in UDCA-treated PBC.¹⁹⁻²³ The same applies to budesonide²⁴⁻²⁶ and obeticholic acid,²⁷ drugs that are currently undergoing randomised controlled trial evaluation. It seems likely that within a few years the therapeutic scenario in PBC will have changed considerably and an evidence-based approach of response-guided treatment in PBC will be a reality, potentially with a number of second-line treatment options available.

Our study emphasises the importance of adequate UDCA dosing. About 40% of UDCA non-responders in whom the dosage was increased became responders according to the criteria we used. Indeed, a multivariable analysis of factors predictive of response confirmed that higher UDCA dosage per kilogram was an independent predictor of response. These findings are in line with previous studies showing that UDCA doses in the range of 13-15 mg/kg/day are more effective than lower doses.^{28,29} Therefore, adequate dosing of UDCA remains of crucial importance.

A potential weakness of our study is its retrospective character, occasionally necessitating the retrieval of data from hand-written patient records more than 20 years old. Also, it may be very well possible that management changes did occur more frequently than documented in the present study, but that this was after more prolonged follow-up. On the other hand, we believe that this study of a large PBC population gives a unique and representative insight into general clinical practice since it was not restricted to high-volume university centres but also involved many smaller community hospitals. In conclusion, in this long-term cohort study of PBC we found that changes in medical management occurred in a minority of patients who, retrospectively, responded insufficiently to UDCA treatment. During the last decade this did not change despite the emergence of established stratification tools. Now new therapeutic options for PBC are becoming available, awareness of the concept of biochemical response requires further attention.

FUNDING

This investigator-initiated study was funded by the Foundation for Liver and Gastrointestinal Research (a not-for-profit foundation) in Rotterdam, the Netherlands. This Foundation had no influence on the study design, data collection and analyses, writing of the manuscript, or on the decision to submit the manuscript for publication. Funding obtained by B.E. Hansen and H.R. van Buuren

DISCLOSURES

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

R E F E R E N C E S

- 1. Selmi C, Bowlus CL, Gershwin ME, Coppel RL. Primary biliary cirrhosis. Lancet. 2011;377:1600-9.
- 2. Lindor KD, Gershwin ME, Poupon R, et al. Primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2009;50:291-308.
- European Association for the Study of the L. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: management of cholestatic liver diseases. J Hepatol. 2009;51:237-67.
- Angulo P, Lindor KD, Therneau TM, et al. Utilization of the Mayo risk score in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis receiving ursodeoxycholic acid. Liver. 1999;19:115-21.
- Pares A, Caballeria L, Rodes J. Excellent long-term survival in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis and biochemical response to ursodeoxycholic Acid. Gastroenterology. 2006;130:715-20.
- Kumagi T, Guindi M, Fischer SE, et al. Baseline ductopenia and treatment response predict long-term histological progression in primary biliary cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:2186-94.
- Lammers WJ, van Buuren HR, Hirschfield GM, et al. Levels of alkaline phosphatase and bilirubin are surrogate end points of outcomes of patients with primary biliary cirrhosis: an international follow-up study. Gastroenterology. 2014;147:1338-49.e5; quiz e15.
- Corpechot C, Abenavoli L, Rabahi N, et al. Biochemical response to ursodeoxycholic acid and long-term prognosis in primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2008;48:871-7.
- Kuiper EM, Hansen BE, de Vries RA, et al. Improved prognosis of patients with primary biliary cirrhosis that have a biochemical response to ursodeoxycholic acid. Gastroenterology. 2009;136:1281-7.
- Corpechot C, Chazouilleres O, Poupon R. Early primary biliary cirrhosis: biochemical response to treatment and prediction of long-term outcome. J Hepatol. 2011;55:1361-7.
- Momah N, Silveira MG, Jorgensen R, Sinakos E, Lindor KD. Optimizing biochemical markers as endpoints for clinical trials in primary biliary cirrhosis. Liver Int. 2012;32:790-5.

Lammers et al. Biochemical response in primary biliary cholangitis.

- 12. Carbone M, Mells GF, Pells G, et al. Sex and age are determinants of the clinical phenotype of primary biliary cirrhosis and response to ursodeoxycholic acid. Gastroenterology. 2013;144:560-569 e7; quiz e13-4.
- Trivedi PJ, Bruns T, Cheung A, et al. Optimising risk stratification in primary biliary cirrhosis: AST/platelet ratio index predicts outcome independent of ursodeoxycholic acid response. J Hepatol. 2014;60:1249-58.
- Trivedi PJ, Lammers WJ, van Buuren HR, et al. Stratification of hepatocellular carcinoma risk in primary biliary cirrhosis: a multicentre international study. Gut. 2015.
- Silveira MG, Brunt EM, Heathcote J, Gores GJ, Lindor KD, Mayo MJ. American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases endpoints conference: design and endpoints for clinical trials in primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2010;52:349-59.
- ter Borg PC, Schalm SW, Hansen BE, van Buuren HR, Dutch PBCSG. Prognosis of ursodeoxycholic Acid-treated patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. Results of a 10-yr cohort study involving 297 patients. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:2044-50.
- Boonstra K, Kunst AE, Stadhouders PH, et al. Rising incidence and prevalence of primary biliary cirrhosis: a large population-based study. Liver Int. 2014;34:e31-8.
- Bodenheimer Jr HC, Jones DEJ, Peterson P, Rudell E. PBC management among clinicians: gaps in clinical competence and practice performance – survey findings. J Hepatol. 2014;60:S201.
- Honda A, Ikegami T, Nakamuta M, et al. Anticholestatic effects of bezafibrate in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis treated with ursodeoxycholic acid. Hepatology. 2013;57:1931-41.
- 20. Lens S, Leoz M, Nazal L, Bruguera M, Pares A. Bezafibrate normalizes alkaline phosphatase in primary biliary cirrhosis patients with incomplete response to ursodeoxycholic acid. Liver Int. 2014;34:197-203.

- Akbar SM, Furukawa S, Nakanishi S, Abe M, Horiike N, Onji M. Therapeutic efficacy of decreased nitrite production by bezafibrate in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. J Gastroenterol. 2005;40:157-63.
- 22. Levy C, Peter JA, Nelson DR, et al. Pilot study: fenofibrate for patients with primary biliary cirrhosis and an incomplete response to ursodeoxycholic acid. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;33:235-42.
- 23. Nakai S, Masaki T, Kurokohchi K, Deguchi A, Nishioka M. Combination therapy of bezafibrate and ursodeoxycholic acid in primary biliary cirrhosis: a preliminary study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2000;95:326-7.
- Leuschner M, Maier KP, Schlichting J, et al. Oral budesonide and ursodeoxycholic acid for treatment of primary biliary cirrhosis: results of a prospective double-blind trial. Gastroenterology. 1999;117:918-25.
- Rautiainen H, Karkkainen P, Karvonen AL, et al. Budesonide combined with UDCA to improve liver histology in primary biliary cirrhosis: a three-year randomized trial. Hepatology. 2005;41:747-52.
- Rabahi N, Chretien Y, Gaouar F, et al. Triple therapy with ursodeoxycholic acid, budesonide and mycophenolate mofetil in patients with features of severe primary biliary cirrhosis not responding to ursodeoxycholic acid alone. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2010;34:283-7.
- Hirschfield GM, Mason A, Luketic V, et al. Efficacy of Obeticholic Acid in Patients with Primary Biliary Cirrhosis and Inadequate Response to Ursodeoxycholic Acid. Gastroenterology. 2015;148:751-61.
- Angulo P, Dickson ER, Therneau TM, et al. Comparison of three doses of ursodeoxycholic acid in the treatment of primary biliary cirrhosis: a randomized trial. J Hepatol. 1999;30:830-5.
- 29. Van Hoogstraten HJ, De Smet MB, Renooij W, et al. A randomized trial in primary biliary cirrhosis comparing ursodeoxycholic acid in daily doses of either 10 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg. Dutch Multicentre PBC Study Group. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1998;12:965-71.

Lammers et al. Biochemical response in primary biliary cholangitis.

Health-related quality of life, rehabilitation and mortality in a nursing home population

L.C. Hartog¹*, G.W.D. Landman³, M. Cimzar-Sweelssen⁴, A. Knipscheer⁴, K.H. Groenier^{1,5}, N. Kleefstra^{2,6}, H.J.G. Bilo^{1,6,7}, K.J.J. van Hateren²

¹Diabetes Centre, Isala, Zwolle, the Netherlands, ²Langerhans Medical Research Group, Zwolle, the Netherlands, ³Gelre Hospital, Apeldoorn, the Netherlands, ⁴TriviumMeulenbeltZorg, Hengelo, the Netherlands, Departments of ⁵ General Practice and ⁶ Internal Medicine, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Groningen, the Netherlands, ⁷Department of Internal Medicine, Isala, Zwolle, the Netherlands, *corresponding author: tel.: +31 (0)38-4247917, email: l.c.hartog@isala.nl

ABSTRACT

Background: Health-related quality of life (HRQOL) in nursing home residents is generally low. The purpose of this study was to investigate the associations between HRQOL and two clinically relevant outcome measures, all-cause mortality and successful rehabilitation, in a nursing home population.

Methods: In an observational prospective cohort study in a nursing home population, HRQOL was assessed with the RAND-36. A total of 184 patients were included, 159 (86%) completed the RAND-36 and were included in the study. A Cox proportional hazard model was used to investigate the independent association between HRQOL, rehabilitation and mortality with adjustment for confounders. Risk prediction capabilities were assessed with Harrell's C statistics and the proportion of explained variance (R²).

Results: The median age (interquartile range) was 79 (75-85) years. The health dimensions vitality (HR 0.88 (95% CI 0.77-0.99)) and mental health (HR 0.86 (95% CI 0.75-0.98)) were inversely associated and role functioning-physical (HR 1.08 (95% CI 1.02-1.15)) was positively associated with mortality. The Harrell's C value and the R² were \leq 0.02 and \leq 0.03 higher in the adjusted models with the dimensions role functioning-physical, mental health or vitality compared with the models without these dimensions. None of the health dimensions or summary scales were related to successful rehabilitation.

Conclusion: HRQOL was significantly associated with mortality for three dimensions, but partly in opposite directions. Additional value of HRQOL in mortality prediction is very limited. There were no independent associations between HRQOL and successful rehabilitation. Although HRQOL is an important outcome, this study did not provide evidence for an association between HRQOL and successful rehabilitation.

K E Y W O R D S

HRQOL, nursing home, rehabilitation, mortality, aged

INTRODUCTION

Comorbidities, depression, cognitive impairment and other geriatric problems are highly prevalent in old age and can greatly impact health-related quality of life (HRQOL).¹⁻⁶ As a consequence, HRQOL is generally low in nursing home residents.^{2-4,7-9} Nursing homes in the Netherlands provide care and long-stay services for elderly patients with chronic mental or physical diseases, and the majority also provide rehabilitation services. Measuring HRQOL in nursing home patients could lead to an increased understanding of factors that negatively impact HRQOL, ultimately aiming to improve the HRQOL of this patient group, characterised by an overall very low HRQOL.

The evaluation of HRQOL in individual patients can be used to measure disease-related distress and overall perception of health. Next to the evaluation of HRQOL as a separate outcome measure, HRQOL also has prognostic value in non-nursing home settings. Furthermore, a lower HRQOL has been associated with increased mortality risk in non-nursing home settings, also in elderly patients. Besides, HRQOL is also used to evaluate therapeutic interventions. Therefore, HRQOL could have a variety of implications in decision-making processes regarding patients and medical interventions.

Increased understanding of HRQOL in nursing home patients could improve the HRQOL and outcome of these patients. As mortality risk is already very high in old age, other clinical outcomes, besides HRQOL itself, such as successful rehabilitation, may be more relevant. Several studies have reported a relationship between HRQOL and rehabilitation in, for example, stroke patients.^{10,11} Low HRQOL corresponds to substantial limitations in physical, emotional and social well-being due to a medical condition or its treatment.¹² These aspects of HRQOL can negatively influence successful rehabilitation. The associations between HRQOL and rehabilitation may be bidirectional: on the one hand successful rehabilitation itself can improve HRQOL¹³⁻¹⁵ and on the other hand a higher HRQOL may improve motivation and increase the chance of successful rehabilitation.

To our knowledge, there are no studies that have investigated the relationship between HRQOL and rehabilitation in a nursing home. Only one study investigated the relationship between HRQOL and mortality in a nursing home setting.¹⁶ Furthermore, no studies have reported whether measuring HRQOL had a discriminatory value, using for example the Harrell's C to assess the predictive capability of HRQOL in a nursing home population. The continuous growth of the elderly population in combination with the severely impaired HRQOL in our oldest old underlines the importance to gain more understanding of the implications of HRQOL in nursing home populations. The purpose of this study was to investigate the associations between HRQOL and two clinically relevant outcome measures, all-cause mortality and successful rehabilitation, in patients admitted to a nursing home.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study is reported according to the STROBE (Strengthening The Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) recommendations.¹⁷

Study sample

The design and details of this prospective observational cohort study have been described previously.¹⁸ Only patients from rehabilitation and somatic departments were included. Patients admitted to a somatic department receive prolonged or permanent care whereas patients in the rehabilitation department are admitted with the intention to rehabilitate and return home. Recruitment and all study procedures, for example administering the HRQOL questionnaire, for patients in the somatic department took place between September 2010 and December 2010. Timing of inclusion was different for each somatic patient. For patients in the rehabilitation department, recruitment and all study procedures took

place between September 2010 and December 2011, mostly within the first weeks of admission.

Patients admitted to the psychogeriatric department were excluded, because these patients are generally not able to complete HRQOL questionnaires.¹⁹ Other exclusion criteria were a life expectancy less than four weeks and an impending transfer to a hospice department.

Data collection

An elderly care physician collected all baseline data directly after inclusion. Baseline data included demographic characteristics, full medical histories (including cardiovascular disease (CVD), diabetes mellitus and hypertension), and medication use. Trained physicians or nurses administered the questionnaires at baseline. HRQOL was measured using the RAND-36 questionnaire.^{12,20} The RAND-36 is a generic instrument to measure aspects of health that are relevant to functional status and well-being.20,21 The RAND-36 consists of nine aspects of health status: physical functioning, role limitations due to physical problems (role functioningphysical), bodily pain, general health, vitality, social functioning, role limitations due to emotional problems (role functioning-emotional), mental health, and health change. Each dimension has a 100-point scale, where higher scores indicate better HRQOL. Of the nine scales two component summary scores can be calculated: a physical component summary (PCS) and a mental component summary (MCS). In 2015, vital status and cause of death were retrieved from the records maintained by the nursing home and general practitioners.

Clinical outcome measures

All-cause mortality and successful rehabilitation were the primary endpoints. Successful rehabilitation was defined as either discharge to the patient's own home or an adapted home for the elderly, where they were self-reliant. Successful rehabilitation was investigated in the subgroup of patients admitted to the rehabilitation department.

Statistical analyses

Continuous variables are presented as mean with the standard deviation for normally distributed variables, or as median with an interquartile range (IQR) for non-normally distributed variables. Cox proportional hazard modelling was used to investigate the relationship between HRQOL and: I) all-cause mortality and 2) successful rehabilitation, with and without adjustment for the following confounders: age, gender, smoking, body mass index, a history of cardiovascular, or pulmonary disease, hypertension, psychiatric disease, length of stay before study inclusion, and the number of medications they were using. Collinearity was tested between each of the RAND-36 dimensions and the confounders. All

hazard ratios refer to a ten-point higher score on the RAND-36 dimensions. In case of significant associations in the Cox regression models, risk prediction capabilities were assessed with Harrell's C statistics and the proportion of explained variance (R^2) .^{22,23} The Schoenfeld residual plots were inspected for each predictor variable to check the assumption of proportional hazards; all assumptions were met unless stated otherwise. A two-sided p < 0.05 was considered significant. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software version 22 (IBM, Armonk, New York, USA) and STATA (version 13; StataCorp, College Station, Texas, USA).

Ethical approval and clinical trial registration

Before starting the study, the Central Committee of Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO) in the Netherlands was contacted. The CCMO agreed that with the current design, no formal approval of an accredited medical ethics committee was needed. According to Dutch guidelines this research does not fall under the scope of the Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Act. This study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, the treating physicians and nurses obtained written informed consent from all patients and data were analysed anonymously. The study was registered on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT01362751).

RESULTS

A total of 184 patients were included in this cohort. HRQOL data were completed for 159 (86%) patients. From the 159 included patients, 123 patients were admitted to the rehabilitation department and 36 to the somatic department. Baseline characteristics of the total study population are presented in *table 1*. The median age (IQR) was 79.2 (75.2-85.9) years. Median PCS and MCS (IQR) scores were 44 (34-57) and 59 (48-74), respectively.

Patients in the rehabilitation department were older, had a lower BMI, hypertension was seen more frequently, and psychiatric disease was seen less often compared with patients in the somatic department (*Appendix table 1*). No difference in mortality hazard was observed between the rehabilitation department and the somatic department (hazard ratio (HR) 0.90 (95% confidence interval (CI) 0.66-I.2I). Patients with missing data had a higher history of dementia and CVD compared with patients without missing data (*Appendix table 1*). Missing data were not significantly associated with mortality or successful rehabilitation, HR 0.89 (95% CI 0.47-I.7I) and HR I.4I (95%CI 0.47-4.23), respectively.

HRQOL and mortality

During a median follow-up period of 3.4 years, 75 (47%) patients had died. Three out of nine health dimensions

were independently associated with all-cause mortality (after adjusting for confounders). The health dimensions vitality and mental health were inversely associated with mortality: HR 0.88 (95% CI 0.77-0.99) and HR 0.86 (95% CI 0.75-0.98), respectively. The dimension role functioning-physical was positively associated with mortality: HR 1.08 (95% CI 1.02-1.15). PCS and MCS component scores were not significantly associated with all-cause mortality. In model 2, age was the only covariate besides the above-mentioned three health dimensions, which was significantly related to mortality (HR 1.08 (95% CI 1.04-1.12)). The results of the Cox regression analyses are presented in *table 2*.

Post-hoc analyses were performed according to type of department. Because of the small number of somatic long-term patients (n=36), we first adjusted for age and gender in both groups (Appendix table 2). The analyses with the fully adjusted model were only performed for the rehabilitation group (Appendix table 3). In additional analyses, stratified according to type of department, no significant associations were seen between HRQOL and mortality within the group of somatic patients. Within the rehabilitation group significant relations with mortality were observed for the dimensions mental health and general health perception: HR 0.80 (95% CI 0.69-0.94) and HR 0.85 (95% CI 0.74-0.99), respectively. After adjustment for all selected confounders, a significant relationship in the rehabilitation group was only seen between the dimension role functioning-physical and mortality (HR 1.08 (95% CI 1.00-1.18)).

The results of the analyses regarding the risk prediction capabilities are presented in *table 3*. The Harrell's C values for the adjusted model of the dimensions role functioning-physical, mental health and vitality were 0.69 (95% CI 0.62-0.75), 0.69 (95% CI 0.63-0.75) and 0.68 (95% CI 0.62-0.74), respectively. The Harrell's C values and the R² were \leq 0.02 and \leq 0.03 higher in the models with the HRQOL dimensions role functioning-physical, mental health or vitality compared with the models without these three dimensions.

HRQOL and successful rehabilitation

Data on HRQOL were missing for 5 (4%) out of 128 patients admitted to the rehabilitation department. During a median follow-up period of 36 days (IQR 7-88), 102 patients were successfully rehabilitated; 90 patients were discharged to their own home and 12 were discharged to an adapted home for the elderly. Patients who were successfully rehabilitated had higher scores on the subscales mental health, vitality and health change, while they scored lower on the subscale bodily pain. None of the health dimensions or summary scales were significantly associated to successful rehabilitation in the regression analyses (*table 2*).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics									
Characteristic	Total HRQOL N = 159	Deceased patients N = 75	Patients who survived N = 84	p-value	Successful rehabilitation N = 102	No successful rehabilitation N = 21	p-value		
Demographics									
Ageª	79 (75-85)	85 (79-88)	78 (72-84)	< 0.005	81 (76-86)	85 (79-89)	0.04		
Female gender ^b	111 (70%)	49 (65%)	62 (74%)	0.25	74 (73%)	15 (71%)	0.92		
Body mass index, kg/m²ª	27 (23-29)	25 (22-29)	26 (23-29)	0.73	25 (23-28)	24 (22-27)	0.38		
$Hypertension^{b}$	124 (78%)	66 (88%)	58 (69%)	< 0.005	81 (79%)	20 (95%)	0.09		
History of CVD^{b}	67 (42%)	38 (51%)	29 (35%)	0.04	39 (38%)	8 (38%)	0.99		
Diabetes mellitus ^b	68 (43%)	36 (48%)	32 (38%)	0.21	45 (44%)	9 (43%)	0.92		
Dementia ^b	11 (7%)	7 (9%)	4 (5%)	0.26	4 (4%)	4 (19%)	0.01		
$Psychiatric disease^{\flat}$	54 (34%)	27 (36%)	27 (32%)	0.61	20 (20%)	12 (57%)	< 0.005		
Pulmonary disease ^b	40 (25%)	20 (27%)	20 (24%)	0.68	29 (28%)	4 (19%)	0.38		
Current smoker ^b	21 (13%)	8 (11%)	13 (16%)	0.37	12 (12%)	0 (0%)	0.09		
Number of medicines ^a	9 (6-11)	9 (7-11)	8 (5-10)	0.06	9 (6-10)	8 (6-11)	0.70		
Measurements									
Physical functioning ^a	10 (5-30)	10 (0-30)	13 (5-30)	0.36	15 (5-35)	10 (0-28)	0.10		
Social functioning ^a	50 (50-63)	63 (50-75)	50 (50-63)	0.19	50 (50-63)	50 (50-75)	0.76		
Role functioning- physical ^a	0 (0-50)	0 (0-75)	0 (0-44)	0.12	0 (0-25)	0 (0-38)	0.94		
Role functioning- emotional ^a	83 (0-100)	67 (0-100)	83 (0-100)	0.73	33 (0-100)	100 (0-100)	0.33		
Mental health ^a	68 (56-80)	64 (52-80)	72 (64-84)	0.02	72 (63-84)	56 (44-72)	< 0.005		
Bodily pain ^a	67 (22-80)	67(33-88)	62 (21-80)	0.65	50 (20-78)	78 (47-90)	0.02		
Vitality ^a	65 (45-75)	60 (45-75)	65 (50-80)	0.08	65 (55-78)	50 (35-68)	< 0.005		
General health perception ^a	55 (40-75)	50 (40-70)	60 (45-75)	0.06	58 (45-75)	55 (40-70)	0.53		
Health change ^a	50 (25-50)	50 (25-50)	50 (25-50)	0.14	50 (25-50)	25 (0-50)	0.03		
PCS score ^a	44 (34-57)	44 (34-57)	44 (34-56)	0.90	42 (33-54)	42 (34-54)	0.97		
MCS score ^a	69 (48-74)	58 (43-73)	61 (51-75)	0.32	58 (49-74)	59 (40-74)	0.38		

Data are medians (interquartile range) or N (%). *Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare groups. ^bChi square test was used to compare groups. CVD = cardiovascular disease; PCS = physical component summary; MCS = mental component summary.

DISCUSSION

HRQOL was significantly associated with mortality for three dimensions, but partly in opposite directions. We observed no independent association between HRQOL and successful rehabilitation.

HRQOL and mortality

During a median follow-up period of 3.4 years, 75 (47%) patients died. There is great variation in mortality rates in nursing home studies.^{16,24,25} Because nursing homes could

provide care for patients with chronic mental or physical diseases or provide rehabilitation services or combined, mortality rates strongly depend on the type of nursing home. Taking this all together, it is difficult to make a reliable comparison of the mortality rates between the current and previous studies.

Higher scores on the dimensions vitality and mental health were related to a lower mortality risk, whereas a higher score on the dimension role functioning-physical was related to a higher mortality risk. The Harrell's C values and the R^2 were ≤ 0.02 and ≤ 0.03 higher in the adjusted

	All-cause mortality (N	= 159)	Successful rehabilitation ($N = 123$)		
	Model 1 HR (95%CI)	Model 2 HR (95%CI)	Model 1 HR (95%CI)	Model 2 HR (95%CI)	
Physical functioning	0.97 (0.88-1.07)	0.99 (0.89-1.10)	1.06 (0.97-1.16)	1.05 (0.96-1.16)	
Social functioning	1.04 (0.91-1.17)	1.03 (0.91-1.17)	1.02 (0.93-1.13)	1.00 (0.90-1.12)	
Role functioning-physical	1.03 (0.98-1.09)	1.08 (1.02-1.15)	0.99 (0.93-1.05)	0.98 (0.92-1.05)	
Role functioning-emotional	1.01 (0.96-1.06)	1.01 (0.96-1.06)	1.00 (0.96-1.04)	0.99 (0.94-1.03)	
Mental health	0.83 (0.75-0.94)	0.86 (0.75-0.98)	1.08 (0.97-1.21)	1.06 (0.94-1.20)	
Bodily pain	1.01 (0.94-1.08)	1.01 (0.94-1.08)	0.94 (0.89-1.00)	0.96 (0.90-1.03)	
Vitality	0.87 (0.78-0.97)	0.88 (0.77-0.99)	1.08 (0.97-1.21)	1.03 (0.92-1.16)	
General health perception	0.90 (0.80-1.00)	0.91 (0.81-1.03)	1.00 (0.90-1.10)	1.00 (0.89-1.12)	
Health change	0.93 (0.85-1.02)	0.95 (0.87-1.05)	1.08 (1.00-1.17)	1.07 (0.99-1.17)	
PCS	0.97 (0.84-1.13)	1.02 (0.88-1.20)	1.00 (0.87-1.15)	0.99 (0.84-1.15)	
MCS	0.90 (0.78-1.03)	0.91 (0.88-1.06)	1.05 (0.92-1.20)	1.00 (0.87-1.15)	

Table 2.	Relationship	between HR	200L. all-ca	use mortalitv.	and successful	l rehabilitation

Model I is the unadjusted model. In Model 2 we adjusted for age, gender, smoking, DM, history of CVD, hypertension, BMI, history of pulmonary disease, history of psychiatric disease, length of stay, and the number of medications. The hazard ratios refer to a 10-point higher score on the RAND-36 dimensions. HR = hazard ratio; CI = confidence interval; PCS = physical component summary; MCS = mental component summary. Bold values correspond to a p-value of 0.05 or less.

Table 3. Cox regression analyses and predictive capability for all-cause mortality. The Harrel's C statistic and the
R ² for evaluating predictive capability the addition of HRQOL dimension role functioning-physical, mental health
or vitality to model 2

All-cause mortality (N = 159)	Hazard ratio (95% CI)	Harrell's C (95% CI)	R² (95% CI)	Harrell's C* (95% CI)*	R²* (95% CI)*
Role functioning-physical (model 1)	1.03 (0.98-1.09)	0.55 (0.49-0.61)	0.01 (0.01-0.11)	NA	NA
Role functioning-physical (model 2)	1.08 (1.02-1.15)	0.69 (0.62-0.75)	0.15 (0.09-0.43)	0.67 (0.61-0.73)	0.14 (0.07-0.41)
Mental health (model 1)	0.83 (0.75-0.94)	0.61 (0.55-0.68)	0.06 (0.00-0.19)	NA	NA
Mental health (model 2)	0.86 (0.75-0.98)	0.69 (0.63-0.75)	0.17 (0.10-0.42)	0.67 (0.61-0.73)	0.14 (0.07-0.41)
Vitality (model 1)	0.87 (0.78-0.97)	0.59 (0.52-0.66)	0.05 (0.01-0.17)	NA	NA
Vitality (model 2)	0.88 (0.77-0.99)	0.68 (0.62-0.74)	0.17 (0.10-0.42)	0.67 (0.61-0.73)	0.14 (0.07-0.41)

Model 1 is the unadjusted model. In Model 2 we adjusted for age, gender, smoking, DM, history of CVD, hypertension, BMI, history of pulmonary disease, history of psychiatric disease, and the number of medications. The hazard ratios refer to a 10-point higher score on the RAND-36 dimensions. HR = hazard ratio; CI = confidence interval; PCS = physical component summary; MCS = mental component summary. * Harrell's C values and R² for the models without the HRQOL dimensions role functioning-physical, mental health or vitality.

models with the dimensions role functioning-physical, mental health or vitality compared with the models without these dimensions.

The score on the role functioning-physical dimension expresses the problems in daily life caused by a physical condition. The positive association with mortality implies that experiencing fewer problems in daily life was associated with an increased mortality risk, which is counterintuitive and has not been previously reported. A possible explanation could be that these frail patients are accustomed to living with substantial limitations in functioning, and therefore scored low on this dimension. In addition, and probably even more relevant, this scale may be inappropriate for nursing home residents as the scale is composed of four individual questions which relate to work or daily activities. Finally, the results could be due to a type I error.

The mental health and vitality dimensions were inversely associated with mortality, which was as we had expected and confirmatory to results from prior studies in different populations.²⁶⁻³⁰ The mental health dimension is related to depression and anxiety and the vitality scale is related to fatigue and apathy. In a previous study in a nursing home setting, only physical functioning was significantly related to mortality.¹⁶ Despite the fact it was a nursing home population, the study population was very different compared with the present study. Mainly long-term residents were included and a high percentage (26%) of these residents had cancer, which may have resulted in different complaints and limitations, resulting in different HRQOL scores, but also in a different mortality risk. Within the rehabilitation department, the dimension role functioning-physical was positively related to mortality. Within the somatic department no relation with HRQOL and mortality was found. This difference in results between the somatic and rehabilitation department could be explained by the fact that patients rehabilitating in a nursing home are potentially physically more frail after a recent acute hospital admission. Patients in the somatic department are chronic patients and used to their physical status. Furthermore, patients admitted to the rehabilitation department were older compared with patients on the somatic ward. Because of the sample size, we cannot exclude that the stratified results concerning the somatic group were subject to a type 2 error.

Another study in community-dwelling elderly described a significant relationship between all subscales and mortality.³¹ In comparison with the present study, these community-dwelling elderly were not admitted patients but were selected by a demographic registration system, which probably explains the difference in HRQOL scores and may explain the other relationship with mortality.

In the present study the physical and mental component summary scores were not significantly related to all-cause mortality. This can be explained by the fact that the component summary scores are calculated from nine health dimensions, while only three health dimensions were significantly related to mortality. Besides, this could also be due to the sample size or the duration of follow-up. A previous study in community-dwelling elderly patients with type 2 diabetes showed that MCS was only associated with mortality after an extended and long-term follow-up period.²⁹ If HRQOL is indeed only related to mortality after a long follow-up period, using HRQOL for these prognostic capabilities will be irrelevant as a long follow-up is not feasible in an old and frail population.

Although our study showed that the dimensions role functioning-physical, vitality and mental health were an independent risk factor for mortality, based on a minimal increase in Harrell's C values when adding role functioning-physical, vitality or mental health to the adjusted models, one may conclude that the additional value of these dimensions in mortality prediction is apparently very limited. It is important to realise that this study group is a group of frail patients with much comorbidity. Even in the fully adjusted models, the C value was lower than 0.70, indicating the poor predictive capability of the overall model.

HRQOL and successful rehabilitation

The results of the present study showed no significant association between HRQOL and successful rehabilitation. We hypothesised that higher HRQOL scores would be associated with successful rehabilitation. Due to better physical, emotional and social well-being, rehabilitation targets would be achieved sooner. Assessing changes in HRQOL could be used to measure improvements in relation to the rehabilitation process.

Although HRQOL was not significantly associated with successful rehabilitation, there was an inverse relationship between a history of psychiatric disease and successful rehabilitation (HR 0.4I [95% CI 0.24-0.69]). In previous studies the relationship between depressive symptoms and functional recovery has been described in post-stroke patients.^{32,33} Depression has a negative effect on recovery in functional status and treatment of depressive symptoms leads to enhanced rehabilitation.

Several previous studies showed improvements in HRQOL after different types of rehabilitation in diverse patient groups (stroke, COPD, cardiac problems, cancer),^{11,14,34,35} but the aims of these studies differed from the aim of the present study. In the present study we aimed to investigate the exact opposite, whether HRQOL could influence the rate of successful rehabilitation. To the best of our knowledge, there are no validation studies regarding the use of the RAND-36 in rehabilitation patients. Concerning its use in a nursing home population, a validation study has been performed.¹⁹ It can be questioned if the SF-36 or RAND-36 is a valid instrument in a nursing home population. Possibly, the SF-36 or RAND-36 could only be used for subgroups of rehabilitation patients, such as those with a higher cognitive and physical functioning.

Although we cannot exclude the possibility that rehabilitation itself may have positive consequences for HRQOL, the current study shows that baseline HRQOL is not related to an increased chance of successful rehabilitation.

Strengths and limitations

The main strengths of this study were the prospective design, the possibility to take into account the number of variables adjusted for in the multivariate model, and the representative group of nursing home patients.

Representativeness was based on the fact that 86% of all admitted somatic or rehabilitation patients during the

study period participated in the present study. In addition, admission to a Dutch nursing home requires approval of a central indication committee and finally, the nursing home facility in the present study was a general nursing home, with somatic, psychogeriatric and rehabilitation departments, comparable with other Dutch nursing homes. There were also limitations. Firstly, due to the observational design it was not possible to establish a causal relation between HRQOL and mortality. Secondly, the RAND-36 questionnaires were not completed in 14% of the sample and this could have led to an uncertainty in the effect estimate. On the other hand, missing data were not significantly associated with mortality or successful rehabilitation: HR 0.89 (95% CI 0.47-1.71) and HR 1.41 (95% CI 0.47-4.23), respectively. The inability to complete questionnaires is a frequently observed problem in geriatric studies and indicative for severe morbidity. However, previous studies that investigated the RAND-36 had a lower response rate compared with present study.^{29,30,36}

Thirdly, the adequacy of using the RAND-36 questionnaire within a nursing home population has been questioned in different studies.^{4,19} An important issue is that the RAND-36 entails several potentially inappropriate questions for this population.^{4,19} Due to the high heterogeneity in the nursing home population in general, the use of the RAND-36 could be more suitable for subgroups of rehabilitation patients, such as those with a higher cognitive and physical functioning.¹⁹

Fourthly, we did not investigate changes in HRQOL. A change in HRQOL could possibly have predicted mortality more accurately.³⁷ Fifthly, successful rehabilitation was defined as discharge to home or a home for the elderly, where they remained self-reliant. As a consequence, patients with a worse outcome after rehabilitation but with a highly adapted home environment (e.g. stair lift, homecare, meal service) might have been discharged sooner. Finally, our study sample is rather small and therefore our results may be a matter of coincidence.

Confirmation of our results in other studies is necessary, preferably performed with HRQOL at several moments during rehabilitation.

CONCLUSIONS

HRQOL was significantly associated with mortality for three dimensions, but partly in opposite directions. The additional value of HRQOL in mortality prediction is very limited. There were no independent associations between HRQOL and successful rehabilitation. The evaluation of HRQOL is important as a goal on its own; however, this study did not provide evidence for an association between HRQOL and successful rehabilitation within a nursing home population.

DISCLOSURES

The authors declare no conflict of interest. No funding or financial support was received.

Ethical approval

All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Informed consent

Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

REFERENCES

- Dev MK, Paudel N, Joshi ND, Shah DN, Subba S. Psycho-social impact of visual impairment on health-related quality of life among nursing home residents. BMC Health Services Res. 2014;14:345.
- Kanwar A, Singh M, Lennon R, Ghanta K, McNallan SM, Roger VL. Frailty and health-related quality of life among residents of long-term care facilities. J Aging Health. 2013;25:792-802.
- Almomani FM, McDowd JM, Bani-Issa W, Almomani M. Health-related quality of life and physical, mental, and cognitive disabilities among nursing home residents in Jordan. Qual Life Res. 2014;23:155-65.
- Drageset J, Natvig GK, Eide GE, et al. Differences in health-related quality of life between older nursing home residents without cognitive impairment and the general population of Norway. J Clin Nurs. 2008;17:1227-36.
- Ferrer A, Formiga F, Cunillera O, et al. Predicting factors of health-related quality of life in octogenarians: a 3-year follow-up longitudinal study. Qual Life Res. 2015;24:2701-11.
- Sitoh YY, Lau TC, Zochling J, et al. Determinants of health-related quality of life in institutionalised older persons in northern Sydney. Intern Med J. 2005;35:131-4.
- Missotten P, Squelard G, Ylieff M, et al. Quality of life in older Belgian people: comparison between people with dementia, mild cognitive impairment, and controls. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2008;23:1103-9.
- Wetzels RB, Zuidema SU, de Jonghe JF, Verhey FR, Koopmans RT. Determinants of quality of life in nursing home residents with dementia. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2010;29:189-97.
- Tabali M, Ostermann T, Jeschke E, Dassen T, Heinze C. Does the care dependency of nursing home residents influence their health-related quality of life?-A cross-sectional study. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2013;11:41.
- Chen CM, Tsai CC, Chung CY, Chen CL, Wu KP, Chen HC. Potential predictors for health-related quality of life in stroke patients undergoing inpatient rehabilitation. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2015;13:118.
- Katona M, Schmidt R, Schupp W, Graessel E. Predictors of health-related quality of life in stroke patients after neurological inpatient rehabilitation: a prospective study. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2015;13:58.
- Van der Zee KI, Sanderman R. Het meten van de algemene gezondheidstoestand met de Rand-36, een handleiding. Tweede herziene druk. UMCG / Rijksuniversiteit Groningen, Research Institute SHARE. 2012 [December 2014]. Available from: http://www.rug.nl/share.
- Marques A, Lourenço Ó, da Silva JA, da Silva JA. The burden of osteoporotic hip fractures in Portugal: costs, health related quality of life and mortality. Osteoporos Int. 2015;26:2623-30.
- Rugbjerg M, Iepsen UW, Jørgensen KJ, Lange P. Effectiveness of pulmonary rehabilitation in COPD with mild symptoms: a systematic review with meta-analyses. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2015;10:791-801.

- Kurfirst V1, Mokráček A, Krupauerová M, et al. Health-related quality of life after cardiac surgery--the effects of age, preoperative conditions and postoperative complications. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2014;9:46.
- 16. Drageset J, Eide GE, Ranhoff AH. Mortality in nursing home residents without cognitive impairment and its relation to self-reported health-related quality of life, sociodemographic factors, illness variables and cancer diagnosis: a 5-year follow-up study. Qual Life Res. 2013;22:317-25.
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. J Clin Epidemiology. 2008;61:344-9.
- Hartog LC, Cizmar-Sweelssen M, Knipscheer A, et al. The association between orthostatic hypotension, falling and successful rehabilitation in a nursing home population. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2015;61:190-6.
- Andresen EM, Gravitt GW, Aydelotte ME, Podgorski CA. Limitations of the SF-36 in a sample of nursing home residents. Age Ageing. 1999;28:562-6.
- 20. Van der Zee KI, Sanderman R, Heyink JW, de Haes H. Psychometric qualities of the RAND 36-Item Health Survey 1.0: a multidimensional measure of general health status. Int J Behav Med. 1996;3:104-22.
- 21. Ware JE, Keller SD. SF-36 Physical and Mental Health Summary Scales: A User's Manual. Boston: The Health Institute; 1994.
- 22. Schemper M, Henderson R. Predictive accuracy and explained variation in Cox regression. Biometrics. 2000;56:249-55.
- Choodari-Oskooei B, Royston P, Parmar MK. A simulation study of predictive ability measures in a survival model I: explained variation measures. Stat Med. 2012;31:2627-43.
- Askari M, Kiely DK, Lipsitz LA. Is pulse pressure a predictor of cardiovascular complications in a frail elderly nursing home population? Aging Clin Exp Res. 2004;16:206-11.
- Benetos A, Labat C, Rossignol P, et al. Treatment With Multiple Blood Pressure Medications, Achieved Blood Pressure, and Mortality in Older Nursing Home Residents: The PARTAGE Study. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;176:989-95.
- Ul-Haq Z, Mackay DF, Pell JP1. Association between physical and mental health-related quality of life and adverse outcomes; a retrospective cohort study of 5,272 Scottish adults. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:1197.

- 27. Xie G, Laskowitz DT, Turner EL, et al. Baseline health-related quality of life and 10-year all-cause mortality among 1739 Chinese adults. PLoS One. 2014;9:e101527.
- Ediebah DE, Coens C, Zikos E, et al. Does change in health-related quality of life score predict survival? Analysis of EORTC 08975 lung cancer trial. Br J Cancer. 2014;110:2427-33.
- Landman GW, van Hateren KJ, Kleefstra N, Groenier KH, Gans RO, Bilo HJ. Health-related quality of life and mortality in a general and elderly population of patients with type 2 diabetes (ZODIAC-18). Diabetes Care. 2010;33:2378-82.
- Kleefstra N, Landman GW, Houweling ST, et al. Prediction of mortality in type 2 diabetes from health-related quality of life (ZODIAC-4). Diabetes Care. 2008;31:932-3.
- Tsai SY, Chi LY, Lee CH, Chou P. Health-related quality of life as a predictor of mortality among community-dwelling older persons. Eur J Epidemiol. 2007;22:19-26.
- 32. Morris PL, Raphael B, Robinson RG. Clinical depression is associated with impaired recovery from stroke. Med J Aust. 1992;157:239-42.
- Saxena SK, Ng TP, Koh G, Yong D, Fong NP. Is improvement in impaired cognition and depressive symptoms in post-stroke patients associated with recovery in activities of daily living? Acta Neurol. Scand. 2007;115:339-46.
- 34. Passchier E, Stuiver MM, van der Molen L, Kerkhof SI, van den Brekel MW, Hilgers FJ. Feasibility and impact of a dedicated multidisciplinary rehabilitation program on health-related quality of life in advanced head and neck cancer patients. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2016;273:1577-87.
- Ter Hoeve N, van Geffen ME, Post MW, et al. Participation in society in patients with coronary artery disease before and after cardiac rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;96:1110-6.
- Chang HT, Liu LF, Chen CK, Hwang SJ, Chen LK, Lu FH. Correlates of institutionalized senior veterans' quality of life in Taiwan. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2010;8:70.
- Fan VS, Au DH, McDonell MB, Fihn SD. Intraindividual change in SF-36 in ambulatory clinic primary care patients predicted mortality and hospitalizations. J Clin Epidemiol. 2004;57:277-83.

A P P E N D I X

Table 1. Baseline characteristics for somatic and rehabilitation department and patients with missing and withoutmissing data

mussing www						
Characteristic	Somatic patients N = 36	Rehabilitation patients N = 123	p-value	Missing data N = 25	Without missing data N = 159	p-value
Demographics						
Ageª	80 (61-85)	82 (76-86)	0.01	82 (78-91)	79 (75-85)	0.16
Female gender ^b	22 (61%)	89 (72%)	0.20	17 (68%)	111 (70%)	0.86
BMI, kg/m²a	28 (23-32)	25 (23-28)	0.02	26 (23-29)	27 (23-29)	0.64
$Hypertension^{b}$	23 (64%)	101 (82%)	0.02	23 (92%)	124 (78%)	0.10
History of $CVD^{\rm b}$	20 (56%)	47 (38%)	0.06	16 (64%)	67 (42%)	0.04
Diabetes mellitus ^b	14 (39%)	54 (44%)	0.59	6 (24%)	68 (43%)	0.08
Dementia ^b	3 (8%)	8 (7%)	0.70	10 (40%)	11 (7%)	< 0.001
Psychiatric disease ^b	22 (61%)	32 (26%)	< 0.001	13 (52%)	54 (34%)	0.08
Pulmonary disease ^b	7 (19%)	33 (27%)	0.37	8 (32%)	40 (25%)	0.47
Current smoker ^b	9 (25%)	12 (8%)	0.02	3 (12%)	21 (13%)	0.87
Number of medicines ^a	9 (7-12)	9 (6-10)	0.57	9 (8-13)	9 (6-11)	0.15
Measurements						
Physical functioning ^a	5 (0-29)	15 (5-30)	0.02	-	10 (5-30)	-
Social functioning ^a	50 (50-63)	50 (50-63)	0.99	-	50 (50-63)	-
Role functioning- physical ^a	63 (0-100)	0 (0-25)	< 0.001	-	0 (0-50)	
Role functioning- emotional ^a	100 (0-100)	67 (0-100)	0.12	-	83 (0-100)	-
Mental health ^a	66 (48-84)	68 (60-80)	0.29	-	68 (56-80)	-
Bodily pain ^a	68(45-100)	57 (22-78)	0.02	-	67 (22-80)	-
Vitality ^a	55 (31-79)	65 (50-75)	0.19	-	65 (45-75)	-
General health perception ^a	53 (40-79)	55 (45-75)	0.72	-	55 (40-75)	
Health change ^a	50 (25-50)	50 (25-50)	0.20	-	50 (25-50)	-
PCS score ^a	53 (39-69)	42 (33-54)	0.03	-	44 (34-57)	-
MCS score ^a	62 (46-76)	59 (4 ⁸⁻⁷⁴)	0.89	-	69 (48-74)	-

Data are medians (interquartile range) or N (%).^aMann-Whitney U test was used to compare groups. ^bChi Square test was used to compare groups. CVD = cardiovascular disease; PCS = physical component summary; MCS = mental component summary.

	Somatic department (N=36) HR (95%CI)	Rehabilitation department (N=123) HR (95%CI)	
Physical functioning	0.90 (0.70-1.15)	1.01 (0.90-1.14)	
Social functioning	1.07 (0.79-1.47)	1.04 (0.90-1.20)	
Role functioning-physical	1.05 (0.93-1.18)	1.05 (0.98-1.14)	
Role functioning-emotional	1.01 (0.91-1.12)	1.00 (0.94-1.05)	
Mental health	0.93 (0.76-1.14)	0.80 (0.69-0.94)	
Bodily pain	0.94 (0.82-1.08)	1.03 (0.95-1.13)	
Vitality	0.85 (0.70-1.02)	0.90 (0.77-1.04)	
General health perception	0.93 (0.78-1.12)	0.85 (0.74-0.99)	
Health change	0.85 (0.70-1.02)	0.96 (0.86-1.06)	
PCS	0.91 (0.71-1.20)	1.01 (0.83-1.22)	
MCS	0.93 (0.74-1.17)	0.87 (0.71-1.04)	

 Table 2. Relationship between HRQOL and all-cause mortality stratified by type of department, only adjusted for age and gender

The hazard ratios refer to a 10-point higher score on the RAND-36 dimensions. HR = hazard ratio; CI = confidence interval; PCS = physical component summary; MCS = mental component summary. Bold values correspond to a p-value of 0.05 or less.

Table 3. Relationship between HRQOL and all-cause mortality stratified to rehabilitation department, adjusted for all selected confounders (the results for the total group are presented for comparison)

		All-cause mortality (N=159)	
	Total group (N=159) HR (95%CI)	Rehabilitation department (N=123) HR (95%CI)	
Physical functioning	0.99 (0.89-1.10)	1.02 (0.91-1.15)	
Social functioning	1.03 (0.91-1.17)	1.02 (0.88-1.18)	
Role functioning-physical	1.08 (1.02-1.15)	1.08 (1.00-1.18)	
Role functioning-emotional	1.01 (0.96-1.06)	1.00 (0.94-1.06)	
Mental health	0.86 (0.75-0.98)	0.85 (0.72-1.01)	
Bodily pain	1.01 (0.94-1.08)	1.04 (0.95-1.13)	
Vitality	0.88 (0.77-0.99)	0.94 (0.80-1.10)	
General health perception	0.91 (0.81-1.03)	0.90 (0.78-1.05)	
Health change	0.95 (0.87-1.05)	1.00 (0.90-1.13)	
PCS	1.02 (0.88-1.20)	1.05 (0.87-1.28)	
MCS	0.91 (0.88-1.06)	0.91 (0.75-1.12)	

Adjusted for age, gender, smoking, DM, history of CVD, hypertension, BMI, history of pulmonary disease, history of psychiatric disease, and the number of medications. The hazard ratios refer to a 10-point higher score on the RAND-36 dimensions. HR = hazard ratio; CI = confidence interval; PCS = physical component summary; MCS = mental component summary. Bold values correspond to a p-value of 0.05 or less.

Reagent strips are efficient to rule out spontaneous bacterial peritonitis in cirrhotics

R.C. Oey¹* J.J. Kuiper², H.R. van Buuren¹, R.A. de Man¹

¹Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus MC University Medical Centre Rotterdam, Rotterdam, the Netherlands. ²Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Albert Schweitzer Hospital, Dordrecht, the Netherlands, *corresponding author: tel.: +31 (0)10-7033037, fax: +31 (0)10-4365916, email: r.oey@erasmusmc.nl

ABSTRACT

Background: The gold standard to diagnose spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP) is a polymorphonuclear neutrophil count ≥ 250 cells/µl in ascitic fluid. This test is laborious and expensive. Urine reagent strips measuring leukocyte esterase activity have been proposed as a rapid and inexpensive alternative. The aim of this study was to assess the diagnostic accuracy of the Combur reagent strip for diagnosing SBP. Furthermore the possible advantage of a photospectrometer reading over visual reading of the strip was investigated.

Methods: This prospective study includes all ascitic fluid samples of cirrhotic patients undergoing diagnostic or therapeutic paracentesis over a 12-month period. The samples were collected for the standard diagnostic work-up and in addition tested with a bedside Combur reagent strip. The strip was read visually and with an automated spectrometer.

Results: A total of 157 samples were obtained from 53 patients, and spontaneous bacterial peritonitis was diagnosed in 12 patients based on the ascitic polymorphonuclear neutrophil count. The sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value and negative predictive value of the reagent strip according to the photospectrometer were 100%, 93%, 55% and 100% respectively, and 75%, 99%, 82% and 98%, respectively, for visual interpretation. The diagnostic accuracy of the photospectrometer was found to be higher than visual interpretation (p = 0.007).

Conclusion: The diagnostic accuracy of leucocyte esterase reagent strips read out by a photospectrometer was comparable with the gold standard test and was excellent for excluding SBP. Our results support implementation of reagent strips in the diagnostic work-up of ascitic fluid.

KEYWORDS

Ascites, leukocyte count, liver cirrhosis, peritonitis, reagent strips

INTRODUCTION

Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP) is a life-threatening complication in cirrhotic patients with ascites.¹ Late or misdiagnosed SBP can lead to increased mortality due to consequences such as gastrointestinal bleeding, development of hepatorenal syndrome and progressive liver failure. Therefore, the threshold for performing diagnostic paracentesis and ascitic analysis should be low.²

The reported prevalence of SBP in cirrhotic patients differs from 0-2.8% in outpatients to 10-30% in hospitalised patients.³⁻⁹

The gold standard test to diagnose SBP is a polymorphonuclear neutrophil count of $\ge 250/\mu$ l in ascites using a manual counting chamber, regardless of the outcome of the culture of ascitic fluid.² This analysis is laborious, time-consuming and expensive. Automated cell counting has been proposed to be a reasonable alternative with a high diagnostic accuracy.¹⁰

In the past two decades several studies have examined the use of leukocyte esterase reagent strips for the bedside diagnosis of SBP.^{8,11-25} These strips are widely used for rapid urinary analysis and the principle is based on the detection of leukocyte esterase activity of granulocytes.

Varying levels of diagnostic accuracy to diagnose SBP with reagent strips have been reported, with a sensitivity ranging from 45-100%, a specificity from 90-100%, a positive predictive value from 42-100% and a negative predictive value from 93-100%.^{8.9,11-31} These inconsistent results could be related to variability in reagent strips, patient populations, different cut-off values and the

subjective interpretation of the reagent strip result. However, the consistent high negative predictive value could make the reagent strips a very useful rule-out tool. This study was performed to 1) assess the diagnostic accuracy of reagent strips in comparison with the current gold standard test for diagnosing SBP in a mixed population of low-risk and high-risk patients, and 2) investigate the possible advantage of automated analysis of the reagent strips over visual non-automated reading.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

This prospective cohort study was carried out at the Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology in a referral centre for liver disease in the Netherlands. The study was designed and carried out in accordance with the principles of the Helsinki Declaration and approval was given by the local medical ethics committee of the hospital.

Patients

Consecutive patients with cirrhosis undergoing diagnostic or therapeutic paracentesis were prospectively enrolled from July 2006 up to and including July 2007. The total study population was subdivided into a low-risk and high-risk population for the development of SBP. The low-risk population was defined as patients undergoing therapeutic, large volume paracentesis or outpatients undergoing diagnostic paracentesis.^{4,5,9} The high-risk population was defined as hospitalised patients undergoing a standard diagnostic paracentesis at admission or because of clinical deterioration.² Patients with ascites secondary to causes other than liver disease were excluded.

Methods

Paracentesis was performed under strict sterile conditions. Ascitic fluid was routinely analysed in the central clinical laboratory with automated determination of the white blood cell count with differential. Ten millilitres of fluid was inoculated at the bedside in aerobic and anaerobic blood culture bottles (Bactec[®]). Fluid was collected in a sterile tube and assessed by two leukocyte esterase reagent strips (Combur¹⁰ strips, Roche Diagnostics). Both strips were read out after 60 seconds, one strip visually and one with a photospectrometer (Urisys 1100[®], Roche Diagnostics). The observer was unaware of the results of the spectrometer. The observer could differentiate between four different colour shades corresponding to 0, 25, 100 or 500 leukocytes/µl.

Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0 (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.).

A mean and standard deviation was computed for continuous variables and compared with the Student's t-tests if normally distributed. A two-sided p-value < 0.05 was considered significant. Sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values with confidence intervals of 95% were calculated. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves were computed and the optimal categorical cut-off point was analysed. Diagnostic performance between photospectrometer reading and visual interpretation was statistically compared using a McNemar test.³²

RESULTS

A total of 157 ascitic fluid samples were collected from 52 patients (range 1-14 samples per patient); 87 samples (55%) were obtained in the low-risk population and 70 (45%) in the high-risk population (*table 1*). The prevalence of SBP according to analysis of the polymorphonuclear neutrophil count was 4 (4.5%) in the low-risk group and 8 (11.6%) in the high-risk group (*figure 1*).

In the low-risk population, one culture (25%) was positive, identifying an *Enterococcus faecium*, whereas three cultures (37.5%) were positive in the high-risk population, identifying *Enterococcus coli*, *Haemophilus parainfluenzae* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in one case each.

Photospectrometer versus visual reading

Of the total of 12 (25%) cases of SBP, three were not detected by optical reading of the strip but correctly diagnosed with the photospectrometer.

With visual reading, the sensitivity for diagnosing SBP was 75% (95% CI 43-93), the specificity 99% (95% CI 95-100), the positive predictive value 82% (95% CI 48-97) and the negative predictive value 98% (95% CI 94-100). The diagnostic accuracy for automated reading was slightly superior (p = 0.007 McNemar test): sensitivity 100% (95% CI 70-100), specificity 93% (95% CI 87-97), positive predictive value 55% (95% CI 33-75) and negative predictive value 100% (95% CI 97-100) (*table 2*). ROC curve analysis indicated that the diagnostic accuracy of the strips was optimal at a cut-off of 100 leukocytes/µl.

Low- and high-risk group analysis

The diagnostic performance of the strip with automated reading in the low- and high-risk populations was similar: the negative predictive value was 100% (95% CI 92 -100%) and the specificity was 93% (95% CI 83 -98%).

DISCUSSION

The results of the present study support the diagnosing value of leukocyte esterase reagent strips in ascitic fluid

TADIC 1. Dusenne churacteristics in 52 patients in the low-risk and high-risk group					
	All (n = 52)	Low-risk group (n = 20)	High-risk group (n = 32)	P-value	
Male (%)	35 (67%)	17 (85%)	18 (56%)	0.038	
Age*, years	51 ± 10	51 ± 8	51 ± 11	0.581	
Child-Pugh score*	10 ± 1.5	9 ± 1.4	10 ±1.6	0.962	
Aetiology of liver cirrhosis (%)				0.325	
Alcohol	18 (35%)	11 (55%)	7 (22%)		
Cryptogenic	10 (19%)	3 (15%)	7 (22%)		
Viral	7 (13%)	2 (10%)	5 (16%)		
Viral + alcohol	3 (6%)	0 (0%)	3 (9%)		
Other	14 (27%)	4 (20%)	10 (31%)		
*Mean ±standard deviation.					

Table 1. Baseline characteristics in 52 patients in the low-risk and high-risk group

 Table 2. Diagnostic accuracy of visual and automated reading of the leukocyte esterase reagent strip compared with the gold standard

	Visual reading	Photospectrometer reading	
Sensitivity	75% (95% CI 43-93%)	100% (95% CI 70-100%)	
Specificity	99% (95% CI 95-100%)	93% (95% CI 87-96%)	
Positive predictive value	82% (95% CI 48-97%)	55% (95% CI 33-75%)	
Negative predictive value	98% (95% CI 94-99%)	100% (95% CI 97-100%)	

analysis in patients with cirrhosis. In particular, this simple, quick and inexpensive method could reliably rule out SBP, with a 100% negative predictive value in populations at low- and high-risk for SBP. Automated reading of the reagent strip was superior to visual interpreting and prevented false-negative results.

The diagnostic accuracy of the Combur¹⁰ strip in ascitic fluid analysis has been studied previously by several groups.^{13,18,26-28,30} The results of these studies were comparable with our results in terms of a high negative predictive value of reagent strip testing. The cumulative data suggest that the sensitivity of strips for diagnosing SBP is variable and may not be optimal. A negative test result, however, strongly predicts absence of SBP. Thus, in patients undergoing diagnostic paracentesis, a negative reagent strip result may imply that further diagnostic studies – polymorphonuclear neutrophil count and bacterial cultures – are not useful and can be omitted. Obviously, preventing unnecessary diagnostic studies in a substantial proportion of patients presenting with ascites may lead to a marked reduction in costs.

Although an automated reader has been used in previous studies,^{7,15} this study is, to our knowledge, the first to compare visual and automated reading of reagent strips in

ascitic fluid analysis. Our results suggest that automated reading is superior and may be the preferred method in clinical practice. Additional studies would be useful to confirm this finding.

One of the limitations of our study may be that the reagent strips we used are not specifically designed for ascitic fluid analysis. The cut-off levels are not based on the



Figure 1. Flowchart study participants and sample collection

Oey et al. Reagent strips to rule out spontaneous bacterial peritonitis.

Author, year	Samples	Prevalence SBP (%)	Sensitivity	Specificity	Positive predictive value	Negative predictive value
Thevenot, 2004 ¹³	100	9 (9%)	89	100	100	99
Sarwar, 2005 ²⁶	214	38 (18%)	83	83	42	97
Braga, 200627	IOO	9 (9%)	IOO	98.9	92.3	100
Campillo, 2006 ¹⁸	443	33 (7%)	63	99.2	91	92.9
Rerknimitr, 2006 ²⁸	200	42 (21%)	88	81	55	96
Rerknimitr, 201030	250	30 (12%)	90	93.2	64.3	98.6
Present study, 2015	157	12 (8%)	100	93	55	100

Table 3. Overview of studies assessing the diagnostic value of Combur leukocyte esterase reagent strips fordiagnosing SBP

polymorphonuclear neutrophil count of 250 leukocytes/ µl, the gold standard for SBP. It has been suggested that protein could interfere with the test and has a negative effect on the accuracy. One study found a significantly higher mean ascitic protein content in patients with false-negative results than in patients with true-positive results.²⁹ Furthermore, little is known regarding the effects of the different composition of ascites as compared with urine, for example with respect to bilirubin or pH level, on reagent strip diagnostic accuracy. Remarkable results – a 100% sensitivity and negative predictive value – have been reported with the Periscreen strip, a strip with specific characteristics for ascitic fluid analysis.³¹ These results await confirmation in a large cohort, which is currently being investigated in the Per-DRISLA study.³³

In conclusion, this study adds to already available data suggesting that Combur reagent strips are useful for ascitic fluid analysis in cirrhotic patients. Cumulative evidence clearly indicates that a negative test result reliably rules out SBP. We found reagent strips an inexpensive, timeand money-saving tool, which is available both during and after regular working hours. Reading the strips with a photospectrometer may be superior to visual reading.

A C K N O W L E D G E M E N T S

We thank Roche Diagnostics (Almere, the Netherlands) for providing the Urisys 1100 analyser.

Funding

Sponsor of the study was the Foundation for Liver and Gastrointestinal Research Rotterdam (SLO).

Disclosures

The authors did not receive a grant support to conduct this study. The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Lata J, Stiburek O, Kopacova M. Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis: a severe complication of liver cirrhosis. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15:5505-10.
- 2. Sheer TA, Runyon BA. Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Dig Dis. 2005;23:39-46.
- Stern MA, Chalasani N, Strauss RM. Is it cost effective and necessary to routinely analyse ascitic fluid in an asymptomatic outpatient population of cirrhotics? Hepatology. 1994;19:1271A.
- Kolle L, Ortiz J, Ricart E, Sabaat M, et al. Ascitic fluid culture is not necessary in asymptomatic cirrhotic outpatients undergoing repeated therapeutic paracentesis. Hepatology. 1996;24:445A.
- Jeffries MA, Stern MA, Gunaratnam NT, Fontana RJ. Unsuspected infection is infrequent in asymptomatic outpatients with refractory ascites undergoing therapeutic paracentesis. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999;94:2972-6.
- 6. Rimola A, Garcia-Tsao G, Navasa M, et al. Diagnosis, treatment and prophylaxis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis: a consensus document. International Ascites Club. J Hepatol. 2000;32:142-53.
- Romney R, Mathurin P, Ganne-Carrie N, et al. Usefulness of routine analysis of ascitic fluid at the time of therapeutic paracentesis in asymptomatic outpatients. Results of a multicenter prospective study. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2005;29:275-9.
- Nousbaum JB, Cadranel JF, Nahon P, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of the Multistix 8 SG reagent strip in diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Hepatology. 2007;45:1275-81.
- Castellote J, Girbau A, Maisterra S, Charhi N, Ballester R, Xiol X. Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis and bacterascites prevalence in asymptomatic cirrhotic outpatients undergoing large-volume paracentesis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;23:256-9.
- Angeloni S, Nicolini G, Merli M, et al. Validation of automated blood cell counter for the determination of polymorphonuclear cell count in the ascitic fluid of cirrhotic patients with or without spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003;98:1844-8.
- 11. Vanbiervliet G, Rakotoarisoa C, Filippi J, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of a rapid urine-screening test (Multistix8SG) in cirrhotic patients with spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2002;14:1257-60.
- Butani RC, Shaffer RT, Szyjkowski RD, Weeks BE, Speights LG, Kadakia SC. Rapid diagnosis of infected ascitic fluid using leukocyte esterase dipstick testing. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99:532-7.
- Thevenot T, Cadranel JF, Nguyen-Khac E, et al. Diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis in cirrhotic patients by use of two reagent strips. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;16:579-83.
- Sapey T, Mena E, Fort E, et al. Rapid diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis with leukocyte esterase reagent strips in a European and in an American center. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;20:187-92.

Oey et al. Reagent strips to rule out spontaneous bacterial peritonitis.

- Sapey T, Kabissa D, Fort E, Laurin C, Mendler MH. Instant diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis using leukocyte esterase reagent strips: Nephur-Test vs. MultistixSG. Liver Int. 2005;25:343-8.
- Wisniewski B, Rautou PE, Al Sirafi Y, et al. Diagnostic des infections spontanees du liquide d'ascite chez le cirrhotique par bandelette urinaire. Presse Med. 2005;34:997-1000.
- Kim DK, Suh DJ, Kim GD, et al. Usefulness of reagent strips for the diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Korean J Hepatol. 2005;11:243-9.
- Campillo B, Richardet JP, Dupeyron C. Diagnostic value of two reagent strips (Multistix 8 SG and Combur 2 LN) in cirrhotic patients with spontaneous bacterial peritonitis and symptomatic bacterascites. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2006;30:446-52.
- Gaya DR, David BLT, Clarke J, et al. Bedside leucocyte esterase reagent strips with spectrophotometric analysis to rapidly exclude spontaneous bacterial peritonitis: a pilot study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007;19:289-95.
- Ribeiro TC, Kondo M, Amaral AC, et al. Evaluation of reagent strips for ascitic fluid leukocyte determination: is it a possible alternative for spontaneous bacterial peritonitis rapid diagnosis? Braz J Infect Dis. 2007;11:70-4.
- Koulaouzidis A. Diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis: an update on leucocyte esterase reagent strips. World J Gastroenterol. 2011;17:1091-4.
- Jha AK, Kumawat DC, Bolya YK, Goenka MK. Multistix 10 SG Leukocyte Esterage Dipstick Testing in Rapid Bedside Diagnosis of Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis: A Prospective Study. J Clin Exp Hepatol. 2012;2:224-8.
- Tellez-Avila FI, Chavez-Tapia NC, Franco-Guzman AM, Uribe M, Vargas-Vorackova F. Rapid diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis using leukocyte esterase reagent strips in emergency department: uri-quick clini-10SG(R) vs. Multistix 10SG(R). Ann Hepatol. 2012;11:696-9.
- Chugh K, Agrawal Y, Goyal V, Khatri V, Kumar P. Diagnosing bacterial peritonitis made easy by use of leukocyte esterase dipsticks. Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci. 2015;5:32-7.

- 25. Hashemian AM, Ahmadi K, Zamani Moghaddam H, et al. Diagnostic Value of Leukocyte Esterase Test Strip Reagents for Rapid Clinical Diagnosis of Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis in Patients Admitted to Hospital Emergency Departments in Iran. Iran Red Crescent Med J. 2015;17:e21341.
- Sarwar S, Alam A, Izhar M, et al. Bedside diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis using reagent strips. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2005;15:418-21.
- Braga LL, Souza MH, Barbosa AM, Furtado FM, Campelo PA, Araujo Filho AH. Diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis in cirrhotic patients in northeastern Brazil by use of rapid urine-screening test. Sao Paulo Med J. 2006;124:141-4.
- Rerknimitr R, Rungsangmanoon W, Kongkam P, Kullavanijaya P. Efficacy of leukocyte esterase dipstick test as a rapid test in diagnosis of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12:7183-7.
- 29. Gulberg V, Gerbes AL, Sauerbruch T, Appenrodt B. Insufficient sensitivity of reagent strips for spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Hepatology. 2007;46:1669; author reply -70.
- 30. Rerknimitr R, Limmathurotsakul D, Bhokaisawan N, Kongkam P, Treeprasertsuk S, Kullavanijaya P. A comparison of diagnostic efficacies among different reagent strips and automated cell count in spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;25:946-50.
- Mendler MH, Agarwal A, Trimzi M, et al. A new highly sensitive point of care screen for spontaneous bacterial peritonitis using the leukocyte esterase method. J Hepatol. 2010;53:477-83.
- Hanley JA, McNeil BJ. The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. Radiology. 1982;143:29-36.
- 33. Centre Hospitalier Departemental Vendee. Evaluation of the Strip PeriScreen for the Fast Diagnosis of the Spontaneous Infection of the Liquid of Ascites During the Cirrhosis (Per-DRISLA). ClinicalTrialsgov [Internet] Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US). 2014- [cited 2016 May 3]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT02085915.

Oey et al. Reagent strips to rule out spontaneous bacterial peritonitis.
Risk stratification for healthcare planning in women with gestational diabetes mellitus

S.H. Koning¹, K.A. Scheuneman¹, H.L. Lutgers³, F.J. Korteweg⁴, G. van den Berg¹, K.M. Sollie², A. Roos⁵, A.J. van Loon⁴, T.P. Links¹, K.M. van Tol⁵, K. Hoogenberg⁵, P.P. van den Berg^{2*}, B.H.R. Wolffenbuttel^{1*}

*Both authors contributed equally to this work

Departments of ¹Endocrinology and ²Gynaecology & Obstetrics, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, the Netherlands, ³Department of Endocrinology, Medical Center Leeuwarden, Leeuwarden, the Netherlands, Departments of ⁴Gynaecology & Obstetrics and ⁵Internal Medicine, Martini Hospital, Groningen, the Netherlands, *corresponding author: tel.: +31 (0)50-3617344; fax: +31 (0)50-3619392; email: s.h.koning@umcg.nl.

ABSTRACT

Background: To identify relevant factors predicting the need for insulin therapy in women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and secondly to determine a potential 'low-risk' diet-treated group who are likely to have good pregnancy outcomes.

Methods: A retrospective analysis between 2011-2014. Multivariable backward stepwise logistic regression was used to identify the predictors of the need for insulin therapy. To identify a 'low-risk' diet-treated group, the group was stratified according to pregnancy complications. Diet-treated women with indications for induction in secondary care were excluded.

Results: A total of 820 GDM women were included, 360 (44%) women required additional insulin therapy. The factors predicting the need for insulin therapy were: previous GDM, family history of diabetes, a previous infant weighing \geq 4500 gram, Middle-East/North-African descent, multiparity, pre-gestational BMI \geq 30 kg/m², and an increased fasting glucose level \geq 5.5 mmol/l (OR 6.03;CI 3.56-10.22) and two-hour glucose level \geq 9.4 mmol/l after a 75-gram oral glucose tolerance test at GDM diagnosis. In total 125 (54%) women treated with diet only had pregnancy complications. Primiparity and higher weight gain during pregnancy were the best predictors for complications (predictive probability 0.586 and 0.603).

Conclusion: In this GDM population we found various relevant factors predicting the need for insulin therapy. A fasting glucose level \ge 5.5 mmol/l at GDM diagnosis was by far the strongest predictor. Women with GDM who had good glycaemic control on diet only with a higher

parity and less weight gain had a lower risk for pregnancy complications.

KEYWORDS

Diet, gestational diabetes mellitus, insulin therapy, predictors, risk stratification

INTRODUCTION

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is one of the most common metabolic complications during pregnancy and occurs in I-I4% of all pregnancies, depending on the population demographics and the diagnostic criteria used.¹ Given that obesity is a worldwide epidemic and the recent more stringent guidelines for screening and diagnosis, the prevalence of GDM is still increasing which burdens obstetric care systems.²⁻⁷

GDM is associated with an elevated risk of adverse obstetric and neonatal outcomes during pregnancy.⁸⁻¹¹ However, studies demonstrated that GDM is a treatable condition and controlling blood glucose levels throughout pregnancy can reduce the risk of complications.^{12,13} Dietary advice is the first step and cornerstone in GDM treatment. When diet fails, insulin therapy is the second step in treatment, according to almost all the international guidelines.¹⁴

In our country, we have a special obstetric care system which is divided between primary and secondary care. The primary care is organised by independently practising midwives and general practitioners (GPs) who take care of normal pregnancy and childbirth, and secondary care is organised by in-hospital obstetricians and specialised clinical midwives caring for pathological pregnancy and childbirth or pregnancies accompanied by comorbidity.¹⁵

Since GDM pregnancies are at increased risk for adverse obstetric and neonatal outcomes, women with GDM are referred to hospitals for obstetric care and are advised to give birth in a hospital with good neonatal facilities. This is especially applicable for women with GDM who are treated with additional insulin therapy and who are considered to represent a more severe GDM group due to a greater difficulty to maintain glycaemic control.¹⁶

However, there may be 'low-risk' women with GDM who do not need obstetric care in secondary care but can maintain care from their midwives or GPs. Women with GDM treated with diet only might be a potential 'low-risk' group who could be treated in a low-risk setting and even qualify for delivery at home. Such a policy demands the correct identification of women with GDM with a high-risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes.

In an earlier paper, we reported the neonatal and obstetric outcomes of pregnancies complicated with GDM after implementation of the 2010 Dutch Society of Obstetrics and Gynaecology GDM guideline on screening and treatment – diet only versus additional insulin therapy – and we compared these outcomes with the general obstetric population in the Northern region of the Netherlands.¹⁷ In the present study we aim to identify relevant factors predicting the need for insulin therapy in women with GDM and secondly to determine a potential 'low-risk' diet-treated group likely to have good obstetric and/or neonatal outcomes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population and design

The study population consisted of all women with singleton pregnancies who were diagnosed with GDM according to the Dutch national guidelines in the University Medical Center Groningen and in the Martini Hospital Groningen, between January 2011 and September 2014. As previously reported,¹⁷ pregnant women were recommended to undergo a 75-gram oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) at week 24-28 of gestation if they had one or more risk factors for GDM according to the Dutch national guideline: previous GDM, first-degree relative with type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM), a previous neonate weighing \geq 4500 gram, pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI) \ge 30 kg/m², some ethnic risk groups (South-Asian, Hindu, African-Caribbean, Middle Eastern, Morocco and Egypt), history of intrauterine foetal death (IUFD), and history of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). Also women

with signs suggestive of GDM (e.g. polyhydramnios and/ or foetal macrosomia) were screened.¹⁴ Women with previous GDM were screened at week 16-18 of gestation and when the test was negative, it was repeated at week 24-28 of gestation. GDM was diagnosed if the fasting plasma glucose was \geq 7.0 mmol/l and/or the two-hour plasma glucose \geq 7.8 mmol/l. In addition, GDM was diagnosed if the fasting glucose was > 7.0 mmol/l or random glucose was > 11.1 mmol/l.^{14,18} The guideline uses these diagnostic criteria, based on the criteria of the World Health Organization (WHO) 1909.¹⁸

Women with a twin pregnancy (n = 15) and women with missing data on neonatal complications (n = 4) were excluded. Women with pre-existing diabetes were not included in the study. This study has been exempted for approval according to the Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Act. This report is based on patient data acquired during care as usual, the data were analysed retrospectively and all the requirements for patient anonymity are in agreement with the regulations of the ethics committee of both hospitals. According to this and the Dutch law on Medical Research with Human Subjects, no approval from an ethics committee is necessary.

GDM treatment regimens

All women diagnosed with GDM received dietary advice by a trained dietician, which included education about carbohydrate intake and carbohydrate distribution. The women also received instructions regarding self-monitoring of blood glucose levels by a diabetes specialist nurse and were instructed to measure fasting and one-hour postprandial blood glucose levels every day for one week. After 1-2 weeks the blood glucoses values were evaluated at the diabetes outpatient clinic. If the fasting plasma glucose level was \geq 5.3 mmol/l and/or postprandial plasma glucose level \geq 7.8 mmol/l additional insulin therapy was started. Insulin was commenced with two elevated blood glucose levels on two successive days and no expected benefits of further dietary intervention. There were three options for insulin therapy: once daily long-acting, prandial ultrashort-acting insulin or a combination of both (basal-bolus regimen), depending on the specific glycaemic profile. In both centres short-acting insulin analogues and NPH insulin were used in GDM treatment.

Measures

All data were assessed from medical and birth records. Ethnicity was classified into four categories: Caucasian, African-American, Middle-Eastern/North-African descents, and Asian (Indian or South-East Asian). Family history of diabetes was defined as having a first-degree relative with type 2 DM. Weight gain was calculated from pre-pregnancy weight to the first visit. HbArc values were measured by standardised HPLC method on a Tosoh G8 system (Tosoh, Tokyo, Japan), considering 22-42 mmol/ mol (4.2-6.0%) as normal. The HbA1c values were measured at the time of GDM diagnosis within one week after the OGTT.

Neonatal complications included: a composite outcome of perinatal complications (still-birth/neonatal death, birth trauma (shoulder dystocia, fracture of humerus or clavicle), hyperbilirubinaemia and neonatal hypoglycaemia), large for gestational age (defined as birth weight above the 90th percentile, adjusted for age, gender, parity, and ethnicity¹⁹), small for gestational age (defined as birth weight below the 10th percentile, adjusted for age, gender, parity, and ethnicity¹⁹), preterm delivery (defined as delivery < 37 weeks), Apgar score < 7 at 5 minutes, and admission to the neonatology department. The presence of neonatal hypoglycaemia was defined as a blood glucose level < 2.6 mmol/l or treatment with a glucose infusion.

Obstetric complications included: instrumental delivery (forceps or vacuum extraction), planned caesarean section and secondary caesarean section.

Statistical analyses

Maternal characteristics are presented according to the GDM treatment regimens. Continuous data are presented as mean with standard deviation or as median and interquartile range [IQR] in case of skewed distribution. Categorical data are presented as number and percentage. For continuous data, the differences between the groups were tested using Student's unpaired t-test or the Mann-Whitney U test in case of skewed distribution. Categorical variables were compared using the Chi-square test and Fisher's exact test.

To examine the potential predictors of need for insulin therapy in GDM, analyses were performed using logistic regression models to calculate the odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs). Factors considered in the model were: maternal age, smoking during pregnancy, parity, ethnicity, history of PCOS, history of IUFD, pre-gestational BMI, previous GDM, previous neonate weighing \geq 4500 gram, first-degree relative with diabetes, chronic hypertension, HbAIC, fasting glucose level at time of GDM diagnosis (quartiles), and two-hour glucose level after a 75-gram OGTT at time of GDM diagnosis (quartiles). First univariable logistic regression was performed and significant factors (two-sided p-value < 0.10) were included in a multivariable backward stepwise logistic regression model to determine the final model. In the final prediction model a two-sided p-value < 0.10 was considered statistically significant.

To determine a potential 'low-risk' diet-treated group, women with other indications for induction in secondary care – according to the 'List of Obstetric Indications' used by midwives in the Netherlands²⁰ – were excluded. The diet group was stratified in a group without and with obstetric and/or neonatal complications as defined above. Comparison between the risk groups was applied using the Mann-Whitney-U test or Chi-square test. Receiver operating characteristics curve analysis was used to evaluate the predicted probability. All p-values were two sided and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed with the use of the statistical package IBM SPSS Statistics (version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp).

RESULTS

Maternal characteristics

The most important characteristics of the study population are summarised in *table 1*. A total of 820 GDM women were referred for treatment, 460 women (56%) were able to maintain adequate glycaemic control with dietary advice only, while 360 (44%) required additional insulin therapy. Of the women who required insulin therapy, 143 women (40%) received trice daily pre-prandial ultrashortacting insulin, 165 women (46%) received basal-bolus insulin therapy, and 39 women (11%) received once daily long-acting insulin (for 13 women the type of insulin was not recorded) at the end of their pregnancy. The median insulin dose was 22 U/day; IQR 12-42 U/day.

The women in the insulin group were older, were more often multiparous, and had a higher pre-gestational BMI. No differences in earlier diagnosis of PCOS, hypertension, history of spontaneous abortion, smoking during pregnancy, and ethnicity were observed between the groups. The frequency rates of previous GDM, a previous neonate weighing \geq 4500 gram at birth, and first-degree relative with diabetes were higher in the insulin group. The median fasting glucose level and two-hour glucose level after a 75-gram OGTT at time of GDM diagnosis were higher in the insulin-group compared with the diet group.

Predictors of need for insulin therapy

Table 2 shows the significant predictors of need for insulin therapy. Previous GDM, family history of diabetes, a previous infant weighing \ge 4500 gram, Middle-Eastern/ North-African descent, multiparity, pre-gestational BMI \ge 30 kg/m², and an increased fasting glucose level and two-hour glucose after a 75-gram OGTT at GDM diagnosis were significant predictors of need for insulin therapy, with a fasting glucose level \ge 5.5 mmol/l having the highest OR 6.03; CI 3.56-I0.22.

Stratification of diet-treated group

Of the 460 diet-treated women, 229 women (49.8%) were excluded because of other indications for induction. *Table 3* gives an overview of these indications. *Table 4*

Characteristics	Overall n = 820	Diet group n = 460	Insulin group n = 360	P-value*
Age (years)	32.0 ± 5.1	31.6 ± 4.9	32.6 ± 5.2	0.010
Family history of diabetes, n (%)	326 (39.8)	156 (33.9)	170 (47.2)	< 0.001
Previous gestational diabetes mellitus, n (%)	86 (10.5)	25 (5.4)	61 (16.9)	< 0.001
Previous infant weighing \ge 4500 g, n (%)	90 (11.0)	35 (7.6)	55 (15.3)	< 0.001
History of IUFD, n (%)	16 (2.0)	5 (1.1)	11 (3.1)	0.043
Parity, n (%)				< 0.001
0	333 (40.6)	223 (48.5)	110 (30.6)	
I-2	436 (53.2)	216 (47.0)	220 (61.1)	
> 2	51 (6.2)	21 (4.6)	30 (8.3)	
Pre-gestational BMI (kg/m²)	27.7 [24.0-31.9]	26.9 [23.3-31.4]	29.2 [25.0-33.4]	< 0.001
Weight gain mother (kg) †	8.0 [4.0-12.0]	9.0 [5.0-13.0]	7.0 [3.0-11.0]	< 0.001
Fasting glucose level (mmol/l)	5.0 [4.6-5.5]	4.8 [4.5-5.2]	5.3 [4.9 5.9]	< 0.001
2-hour glucose level (mmol/l)	8.6 [8.1-9.4]	8.5 [8.0-9.1]	8.8 [8.2-9.7]	< 0.001
HbA1c‡				
mmol/l	37 ^{34·4°}	37 ³⁴⁻³⁹	3 ^{8 36-42}	< 0.001
%	5.5 [5.3-5.8]	5.5 [5.3-5.7]	5.6 [5.4-6.0]	

Table 1. Comparison of the characteristics between GDM women treated with diet only and the wo	nen who
required additional insulin therapy	

Data are expressed as mean \pm SD, median [IQR], or proportion n (%). Data with respect to family history of diabetes, pre-gestational body mass index, weight gain mother, and HbArc are missing in 24 (2.9%), 25 (3.0%), 225 (27.4%), and 177 (21.6%) of the women, respectively. *P-values were based on Student's unpaired t-test (non-skewed continuous variables), Mann-Whitney U-test (skewed continuous variables) or Chi-square test (categorical variables). 'Weight gain from pre-pregnancy weight to first visit. [‡]The HbArc values were measured at the time of GDM diagnosis within 1 week after. IUFD = intrauterine foetal death; BMI = body mass index.

shows GDM pregnancies without (106 women (45.9%)) and with (125 women (54.1%)) obstetric and/or neonatal complications. Primiparity and higher weight gain during pregnancy were the best predictors for complications (predictive probability 0.586 and 0.603) respectively.

DISCUSSION

In this study we identified the following risk factors in GDM that predicted the need for additional insulin therapy: previous GDM, family history of diabetes, a previous infant weighing \geq 4500 gram, Middle-Eastern/ North-African descent, multiparity, pre-gestational BMI \geq 30 kg/m², and a markedly increased fasting and two-hour glucose level after a 75-gram OGTT at time of GDM diagnosis. A fasting glucose level \geq 5.5 mmol/l at time of GDM diagnosis was the strongest predictor of need for insulin therapy.

Moreover, the study showed that diet-treated primiparous women with GDM had more obstetric and/or neonatal

complications compared with multiparous women. Also, a higher weight gain in diet-treated women with GDM was associated with more pregnancy complications.

Predictors of need for insulin therapy

Women who receive dietary advice but fail to maintain glycaemic control within 1-2 weeks generally receive additional insulin therapy. In several studies insulin therapy was required in ~20-30% of the women with GDM.^{12,13,21,22} In our study a higher percentage (44%) of women with GDM required additional insulin therapy. This is in line with two other studies which reported that 51-53% needed insulin therapy.^{23,24} Possible explanations for the wide range in percentages for insulin need between studies are: differences in the study population, dietary compliance, criteria for diagnosis of GDM, and criteria to start insulin therapy.

A number of previous studies have addressed the possible predictors of the need for insulin therapy in women with GDM. In analogy to our study, three comparable studies with regard to sample size and ethnicity showed that

Table 2. Multivariable logistic regression analyses of predictors for additional insulin therapy				
Predictors	OR	95% CI	P-value*	
Previous gestational diabetes	2.05	1.13-3.70	0.018	
Family history of diabetes	1.90	1.36-2.66	< 0.001	
Previous infant weighing ≥ 4500 gram	1.68	0.98-2.89	0.061	
Parity				
0	1.00 (Ref.)			
I-2	1.83	1.27-2.66	0.001	
> 2	2.06	0.94-4.52	0.070	
Ethnicity				
Caucasian	1.00 (Ref.)			
African-American	0.98	0.39-2.47	0.973	
Middle-East/North- African	2.45	1.29-4.65	0.006	
Asian	0.98	0.48-1.99	0.944	
Pre-gestational body mass index (kg/m ²)				
< 25	1.00 (Ref.)			
25-30	1.37	0.90-2.09	0.141	
≥ 30	1.63	1.08-2.45	0.020	
Fasting glucose level (mmol/l)**				
< 4.6	1.00 (Ref.)			
4.6-5.0	1.47	0.90-2.41	0.121	
5.0-5.5	2.54	1.02-2.67	0.001	
≥ 5.5	6.03	3.56-10.22	< 0.001	
2-hour glucose level after a 75-gram OGTT (mmol/l)**				
< 8.1	1.00 (Ref.)			
8.1-8.6	1.13	0.71-1.81	0.609	
8.6-9.4	1.65	1.02-2.67	0.040	
≥ 9.4	1.93	1.20-3.11	0.007	
OPs or $\%$ confidence intervals and p values were derived from logistic regression models (backward stepwise method) $P < 0$ to was considered				

ORs, 95% confidence intervals and p-values were derived from logistic regression models (backward-stepwise method). P < 0.10 was considered statistically significant. **The fasting glucose level and two-hour glucose at time of GDM diagnosis. OGTT = oral glucose tolerance test; OR = odds ratio.

elevated fasting plasma glucose at time of GDM diagnosis was a potent predictor for additional insulin therapy.²³⁻²⁵ One study²⁵ showed in a large cohort of 2365 women with GDM that women requiring insulin therapy were more likely to have a fasting blood glucose of > 5.3 mmol/l (> 95 mg/dl) before a 100-gram OGTT. Moreover, the study found that multiparity, obesity, history of GDM, diagnosis, a three-hour glucose tolerance test > 7.8 mmol/l (> 140 mg/dl), and HbA1c of \geq 6.0% at GDM diagnosis were additional predictors of the need for insulin therapy. In a second study,²³ BMI, gestational age when GDM was diagnosed, and fasting and two-hour glucose levels after a 75-gram OGTT were independent predictors of insulin therapy among 612 women with GDM. For each increase of 0.5 mmol/l to the level of the fasting glucose, they reported an OR for insulin therapy of 2.75. The last study²⁴ identified a number of significant predictors for insulin including measures of glycaemia – fasting glucose level – diagnosis, and family history of GDM among 3009 women with GDM. However, they found a low predictive power for the risk factors.

Although the aforementioned studies used different glucose targets and screening strategies, comparable results regarding fasting glucose levels were observed.

Similar to our study, these studies used 'old' diagnostic criteria, before the implementation of the more stringent criteria of the International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) in 2010.23,24 The fasting glucose level - at time of GDM diagnosis - found in our study (\geq 5.5 mmol/l) is comparable with the national recommended fasting glucose target for start of insulin treatment (\geq 5.3 mmol/l), but much lower than the fasting glucose level used to diagnose GDM $(\geq 7.0 \text{ mmol/l})$ according to our current national guideline. The fasting glucose level is more comparable with the new diagnostic criteria adopted by the IADPSG and the WHO 2013 (fasting glucose \geq 5.1 mmol/l; one-hour \geq 10.0 mmol/l; and a two-hour value \geq 8.5 mmol/l).^{26,27} Revision of the diagnostic criteria of our national guideline seems justified, to overcome the discrepancy between the diagnostic cut-off and treatment target values of fasting glucose in GDM.

The fasting glucose level was a more potent predictor of the need for insulin therapy than the two-hour glucose level at time of the OGTT. The finding that a fasting glucose level is a strong predictor for insulin therapy may be explained by the pathophysiology of GDM and type 2 DM. In GDM, fasting glucose levels may remain normal, when insulin resistance is initially compensated by increased insulin production and therefore the abnormality might only be seen in the postprandial blood glucose values.²⁸ However, it has been demonstrated that GDM women not only have defects in insulin sensitivity but also in insulin secretion.²⁸ Studies also suggest that the fasting glucose level on diagnostic OGTT is more associated with a defect in basal insulin secretion; this might be a plausible explanation why the fasting glucose level is a strong predictor for the need of insulin.^{29,30} Finally, it has been shown that elevated glucose levels during pregnancy also predict the development of type 2 DM after pregnancy.³¹ So it may be that women with more pronounced increased fasting plasma glucose are already in an advanced stage to develop type 2 DM.

Stratification of diet-treated group

After the findings on the benefits of GDM treatment, worldwide revisions of the guidelines for screening and diagnosis of GDM were performed.^{9,12,13} Lowering the diagnostic threshold strongly increases the number of women referred for treatment, which imposes a large burden on obstetric healthcare worldwide due to higher costs.⁵⁷

This study allowed the recognition of a more complex-care group of insulin-treated women with GDM, but on the other hand a potential 'low-risk' group of women who can be treated with diet alone, and who could possibly be referred back to primary care. Only primiparity and weight gain during pregnancy were risk factors to develop obstetric and/or neonatal complications in the diet group,

Table 3. Indications for the diet group for surveillance of pregnancy and delivery in secondary care

Indication*	n = 229**		
Pre-existing diseases			
Crohn's disease Hyperthyroidism with medication Chronic hypertension [†] Asthma with medication	2 I I5 4		
Obstetric history			
IUFD/perinatal death Preterm birth < 33 weeks Caesarean section Pre-eclampsia [‡]	9 3 18 6		
Complications during pregnancy			
Pregnancy-induced hypertension Pre-eclampsia Polyhydramnios/foetal macrosomia Post-term pregnancy [¶]	43 16 165 8		
*Indications are based on the List of Obstatric Indications used by			

*Indications are based on the List of Obstetric Indications used by midwives in the Netherlands. **Some women had more than one indication for treatment in secondary care. [†]Chronic hypertension was defined as a pre-gestational systolic blood pressure ≥ 140 mmHg and/ or a diastolic blood pressure ≥ 90 mmHg on two occasions or the use of blood-pressure lowering drugs. [‡]Preeclampsia was defined as a combination of gestational hypertension and proteinuria (≥ 300 mg/24 h) and included eclampsia and the haemolysis elevated liver enzymes and low platelets (HELPP) syndrome. [†]Post-term pregnancy was defined as being pregnant for 42 weeks. IUFD = intrauterine foetal death

but these risk factors had a very low predictive probability. The rather large proportion of 54% of the diet-treated women who suffered pregnancy-related complications could not validly be identified beforehand. Therefore, it is not possible to identify a circumscribed 'low-risk' diet-treated group from our data based on pregnancy outcomes. As some authors suggest that diet-treated women - who are likely to maintain good glycaemic control throughout pregnancy with diet only - can be referred back to midwives in primary care,23.32 there remains uncertainty regarding the possible development of pregnancy-related complications. To be able to refer women back to primary care, a healthcare system with optimal interaction and communication between primary and secondary care is required. However, such shared-care models require further evaluation for GDM care. There is more need for prospective studies investigating the safety of treating diet-only women with GDM in primary care.

The strengths of the study are the large cohort of women with GDM and the large database with the collection of commonly used measures. A limitation of the study is the retrospective nature of the analyses and the fact that this GDM cohort is based on the 'old' WHO 1999 diagnostic criteria for GDM in our national guideline, which differ greatly from the new WHO 2013 criteria, while for

	Low-risk group			
Characteristics	Overall n = 231	No complications n = 106	Complications** n = 125	P-value*
Age (years)	31.4 ± 4.9	31.2 ± 4.7	$3I.7 \pm 5.2$	0.501
Parity, n (%)				0.014
0	109 (47.2)	39 (36.8)	70 (56.0)	
I-2	109 (47.2)	60 (56.6)	49 (39.2)	
>2	13 (5.6)	7 (6.6)	6 (4.8)	
Total risk factors for gestational diabetes, n $(\%)^{\rm j}$				
0	9 (4.1)	7 (6.9)	2 (I.7)	0.003
I-2	194 (89.0)	83 (81.4)	111 (95.7)	
>2	15 (6.9)	12 (11.8)	3 (2.6)	
Pre-gestational BMI (kg/m²)	28.0 [23.0-31.9]	27.6 [22.7-31.1]	28.5 [23.5-32.6]	0.290
Weight gain mother (kg) †	8.0 [4.0-11.0]	7.0 [3.0-10.0]	9.0 [4.9-12.3]	0.019
Fasting glucose level (mmol/l)	4.8 [4.5-5.2]	4.8 [4.5-5.2]	4.7 [4.5-5.2]	0.670
2-hour glucose level after 75-g OGTT (mmol/l)	8.5 [8.0-9.1]	8.4 [8.0-9.0]	8.5 [8.1-9.2]	0.381
НрАтс				0.158
mmol/mol	37 [34-40]	35 [33-37]	37 [34-40]	
%	5.5 [5.3-5.7]	5.4 [5.2-5.6]	5.5 [5.3-5.7]	

 Table 4. Identification of a low-risk group of diet-treated women with gestational diabetes according to obstetric and/or neonatal complications

Data are expressed as mean ± SD, median [IQR] or proportion n (%). Data with respect to total risk factors for gestational diabetes (GDM), pregestational BMI, weight gain mother, and HbA1c are missing in 13 (5.6%), 9 (3.9%), 56 (24.2%), and 55 (23.8%) of the women, respectively. *P-values were based on Student's unpaired t-test (non-skewed continuous variables), Mann-Whitney U-test (skewed continuous variables) or Chi-square test (categorical variables). **Complications during pregnancy, including: perinatal complications (perinatal mortality, birth trauma, hyperbilirubinaemia and neonatal hypoglycaemia), large for gestational age (birth weight above the 9oth percentile), small for gestational age (birth weight below the 10th percentile), Apgar score < 7 after 5 minutes, preterm delivery < 37 weeks, admission to neonatology, instrumental delivery, and (elective) caesarean section. ¹Risk factors for GDM were: a previous GDM, first-degree relative with type 2 diabetes mellitus, a previous neonate weighing ≥ 4500 gram, pre-pregnancy BMI ≥ 30 kg/m², some ethnic risk groups (South-Asian, Hindu, African-Caribbean, Middle Eastern, Morocco and Egypt), history of intrauterine foetal death (IUFD), and history of polycystic ovary syndrome. ¹Weight gain from pre-pregnancy weight to first visit. BMI = body mass index; OGTT = Oral Glucose Tolerance Test.

treatment of GDM we use the new stringent international glucose targets in GDM pregnancies. This discrepancy clearly needs reconsideration of the current Dutch guideline on diagnosis and treatment of GDM.

In summary, in this GDM population we found various relevant factors predicting the need for additional insulin therapy in GDM. Especially, a fasting glucose level \geq 5.5 mmol/l at GDM diagnosis was the strongest predictor of need for insulin therapy. These predictors might be helpful to recognise a complex-care group of insulin-treated women within the GDM population. Women with GDM who had good glycaemic control on diet only with a higher parity and less weight gain, had a lower risk for obstetric and/or neonatal complications. However, from our data a risk-stratification approach for the diet group based on neonatal and obstetric complications alone did not have predictive utility.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to thank the diabetes specialist nurses, and dietitians of the University Medical Center and Martini Hospital Groningen. Further we want to thank: B.J. Schering and M.G. Baas for assistance with the data collection.

DISCLOSURES

Grant support: Novo Nordisk Netherlands provided an unrestricted research grant.

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Koning et al. Risk stratification in women with GDM.

REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(Suppl 1):S81-S90.
- Ferrara A. Increasing prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus a public health perspective. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(Suppl 2):S141-S6.
- Hunt KJ, Schuller KL. The increasing prevalence of diabetes in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2007;34:173-99.
- 4. Dabelea D, Snell-Bergeon JK, Hartsfield CL, Bischoff KJ, Hamman RF, McDuffie RS. Increasing prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) over time and by birth Cohort Kaiser Permanente of Colorado GDM Screening Program. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:579-84.
- O'Sullivan E, Avalos G, O'Reilly M, Dennedy M, Gaffney G, Dunne F. Atlantic Diabetes in Pregnancy (DIP): the prevalence and outcomes of gestational diabetes mellitus using new diagnostic criteria. Diabetologia. 2011;54:1670-5.
- Moses RG, Morris GJ, Petocz P, San Gil F, Garg D. The impact of potential new diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus in Australia. Med J Aust. 2011;194:338.
- Cundy T, Ackermann E, Ryan EA. Gestational diabetes: new criteria may triple the prevalence but effect on outcomes is unclear. BMJ. 2014;348.
- Langer O, Yogev Y, Most O, Xenakis EM. Gestational diabetes: the consequences of not treating. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005;192:989-97.
- Metzger BE, Lowe LP, et al.; HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1991-2002. Epub 2008/05/09.
- Sermer M, Naylor CD, Gare DJ, et al. Impact of increasing carbohydrate intolerance on maternal-fetal outcomes in 3637 women without gestational diabetes: the Toronto Tri-Hospital Gestational Diabetes Project. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1995;173:146-56.
- 11. Yang X, Hsu-Hage B, Zhang H, Zhang C, Zhang Y, Zhang C. Women with impaired glucose tolerance during pregnancy have significantly poor pregnancy outcomes. Diabetes Care. 2002;25:1619-24.
- Crowther CA, Hiller JE, Moss JR, McPhee AJ, Jeffries WS, Robinson JS. Effect of treatment of gestational diabetes mellitus on pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:2477-86.
- Landon MB, Spong CY, Thom E, et al. A multicenter, randomized trial of treatment for mild gestational diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:1339-48.
- 14. The Dutch society of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (2010). Diabetes Mellitus and Pregnancy. Clinical guideline version 2.0. Available from: http://www.nvog-documenten.nl/index.php?pagina=/richtlijn/item/ pagina.php&richtlijn_id=863 Accessed 10 Dec 2015 (in Dutch).
- Amelink-Verburg MP, Buitendijk SE. Pregnancy and labour in the Dutch maternity care system: what is normal? The role division between midwives and obstetricians. J Midwifery Women's Health. 2010;55:216-25.
- Russell C, Dodds L, Armson B, Kephart G, Joseph K. Diabetes mellitus following gestational diabetes: role of subsequent pregnancy. BJOG. 2008;115(2):253-60.
- Scheuneman KA, Koning SH, Hoogenberg K, et al. Predictors of need for insulin therapy in gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 2015;58 (Suppl 1):S73.
- World Health Organization (1999). Definition and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and its Complications. Report of a WHO consultation. Part 1: Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Geneva: Department of Noncommunicable Disease Surveillance, World Health Organization,1999.

- Visser GH, Eilers PH, Elferink-Stinkens PM, Merkus HM, Wit JM. New Dutch reference curves for birthweight by gestational age. Early Hum Dev. 2009;85:737-44.
- 20. The Dutch Society of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. Obstetric indication list. Available from:http://www.knov.nl/fms/file/knov.nl/knov_ downloads/2119/file/5 Herziene richtlijn_VIL_2014_-_4_onderwerpen. pdf?download_category=richtlijnen-praktijkkaarten Accessed 10 Dec 2015 (in Dutch).
- Benhalima K, Robyns K, Van Crombrugge P, et al. Differences in pregnancy outcomes and characteristics between insulin-and diet-treated women with gestational diabetes. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2015;15:1.
- Kosman M, Eskes S, van Selst J, et al. Perinatal outcomes in gestational diabetes in relation to ethnicity in the Netherlands. Neth J Med. 2016;74:22-9.
- 23. Wong VW, Jalaludin B. Gestational diabetes mellitus: who requires insulin therapy? Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2011;51:432-6.
- Pertot T, Molyneaux L, Tan K, Ross GP, Yue DK, Wong J. Can common clinical parameters be used to identify patients who will need insulin treatment in gestational diabetes mellitus? Diabetes Care. 2011;34:2214-6.
- González-Quintero VH, Istwan NB, Rhea DJ, et al. Antenatal factors predicting subsequent need for insulin treatment in women with gestational diabetes. J Women's Health. 2008;17:1183-7.
- 26. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel (2010). International association of diabetes and pregnancy study groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 2010;33:676-82.
- World Health Organization (2013). Diagnostic criteria and classification of hypoglycemia first detected in pregnancy. Available from: http://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/85975/1/WHO_NMH_MND_13.2_eng.pdf. Accessed 22 Sept 2015.
- Buchanan TA. Pancreatic B-cell defects in gestational diabetes: implications for the pathogenesis and prevention of type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:989-93. Epub 2001/03/10.
- Akinci B, Celtik A, Yener S, Yesil S. Is fasting glucose level during oral glucose tolerance test an indicator of the insulin need in gestational diabetes? Diabetes Res Clin Prac. 2008;82:219-25.
- Bakiner O, Bozkirli E, Ozsahin K, Sariturk C, Ertorer E. Risk factors that can predict antenatal insulin need in gestational diabetes. J Clin Med Res. 2013;5:381.
- Kim C, Newton KM, Knopp RH. Gestational Diabetes and the Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes A systematic review. Diabetes Care. 2002;25:1862-8.
- Flack JR, Ross GP, Ho S, McElduff A. Recommended changes to diagnostic criteria for gestational diabetes: impact on workload. Aust N Z J Obst Gynaecol. 2010;50:439-43.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- EASD: European Association for the Study of Diabetes; 51st annual meeting; September 17 2015; Stockholm, Sweden. Title: Predictors of need for insulin therapy in gestational diabetes mellitus.
- JNVE: The Young Dutch Society for Endocrinology; JNVE meeting; October 30;Holiday Inn Hotel, Leiden, The Netherlands. Title: Predictors of need for insulin therapy in gestational diabetes mellitus.

Koning et al. Risk stratification in women with GDM.

Abdominal pain with a remarkable origin

H.G. Freling, P. Swartbol[†], T.F. Veneman*

Department of Intensive Care Medicine, Ziekenhuisgroep Twente, Almelo, the Netherlands, *corresponding author: tel.: +31 (0)88-7083413, fax: +31 (0)88-7083593, email: t.veneman@zgt.nl

CASE REPORT

A 72-year-old man presented to the Emergency Department with generalised abdominal pain, anorexia and vomiting for the last two days. His medical history revealed diabetes mellitus type 2, hypertension and a haemorrhagic cerebrovascular accident.

For a few years, he had been complaining about pain in the right upper abdomen and episodes of diarrhoea once every six months which lasted for several days. His stools and urination were normal. He had no fever, but in the last few weeks he complained about dyspnoea and a non-productive cough.

At physical examination an adipose, hemiplegic man was seen. On auscultation, peristalsis was normal, but at palpation a painless, pulsating tumour was found. In the groin strong pulsations were palpable on both sides (left < right). Other physical examination did not reveal any abnormalities. Laboratory examination was normal apart from a C-reactive protein of 28 mg/l and leukocyte count II.6 x 10⁹/l. An X-ray of the abdomen showed a large mass in the centre of the abdomen (*figure 1*).

WHAT IS YOUR DIAGNOSIS?

See page 271 for the answer to this photo quiz.

Figure 1. X-ray of the abdomen



ANSWER TO PHOTO QUIZ (PAGE 270) ABDOMINAL PAIN WITH A REMARKABLE ORIGIN

DIAGNOSIS

Our suspected diagnosis was confirmed by a CT scan of the abdomen, showing an infrarenal aneurysm of the abdominal aorta (AAA) with a diameter of 17 cm, causing a mechanical ileus (*figure 2*).

AAAs are relatively common and potentially life-threatening.¹ They are defined as a focal dilatation of an artery with at least a 50% increase over the vessel's normal diameter. Therefore, an infrarenal aorta that is 3 cm or more is considered an AAA. An AAA of 17 cm is an exceptional finding, because the risk of rupture increases strongly with increasing diameter.² AAAs with a diameter > 8 cm are associated with a yearly chance of rupture of 30-50%.² AAAs generally affect elderly Caucasian men.³ Risk factors include smoking, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and increased body mass index. In addition, individuals with first-degree relatives with AAAs are at increased risk.

Most AAAs are asymptomatic until they expand (or rupture) and many are detected as an incidental finding.⁴ However, patients may experience a wide range of complaints such as pain in the back, abdomen or groin. Other symptoms originate from local compression such as nausea, vomiting, or urinary symptoms. Mechanical ileus, as in our patient, has been described before, and occurs in < 1%.¹

AAAs are treated surgically.¹ The primary methods are by an open or endovascular approach. Our patient was treated with an aortobifemoral prosthesis through the classic open approach by laparotomy. The list of potential complications is long. Open elective repair is accompanied by a mortality rate of 1.5-8% (endovascular repair < 1%).¹

Our patient had suffered from abdominal symptoms for a number of years. We suspect that recent enlargement of an AAA caused the recent increase in his complaints. The post-surgical admission to the intensive care unit was uncomplicated, after three days the mechanical ileus dissolved. He was discharged in a good clinical condition.

Alternative diagnoses: 1) Cyst, 2) Malignancy, 3) Haematoma.



DISCLOSURES

The authors report no conflicts of interest. No funding or financial support was received.

REFERENCES

- Wassef M, Baxter BT, Chisholm RL, et al. Pathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysms: a multidisciplinary research program supported by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. J Vasc Surg. 2001;34:730-8.
- Blanchard JF, Armenian HK, Friesen PP. Risk factors for abdominal aortic aneurysm: results of a case-control study. Am J Epidemiol. 2000;151:575-83.
- Lederle FA, Johnson GR, Wilson SE, et al. Prevalence and associations of abdominal aortic aneurysm detected through screening. Aneurysm Detection and Management (ADAM) Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study Group. Ann Intern Med. 1997;126:441-9.
- US Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for abdominal aortic aneurysm: recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. 2005;142:198-202.

Spontaneous, painful nail haemorrhages and onycholysis in a patient at high altitude

S.D. Marbus*, M. van Vugt

Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Tropical Diseases, Academic Medical Centre, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, *corresponding author: tel.: +31 (0)30-2742045, e-mail: sierk.marbus@rivm.nl

CASE REPORT

A 23-year-old female patient presented with spontaneous appearance of nail haemorrhages on both hands after a tracking holiday in Peru and Bolivia. At altitudes above 3000 meters, she initially developed painful splinter haemorrhages (*figure 1*), followed by subungual haematoma (*figure 2*) and eventually distal onycholysis at all fingernails on both hands (*figure 3*). Remarkably, her toenails were spared. Her previous medical history included acne conglobata, for which she was recently treated with doxycycline 100 mg once daily for three months by her dermatologist. Other medication included malarone prophylaxis and ethnylestradiol/levonorgestrel. The remaining physical examination and blood analysis were within normal ranges





Figure 3. Distal onycholysis of left fingernails



WHAT IS YOUR DIAGNOSIS?

See page 273 for the answer to this photo quiz.

ANSWER TO PHOTO QUIZ (PAGE 272) SPONTANEOUS, PAINFUL NAIL HAEMORRHAGES AND ONYCHOLYSIS IN A PATIENT

AT HIGH ALTITUDE

DIAGNOSIS

This patient developed spontaneous nail changes due to doxycycline-induced photo-onycholysis. Doxycycline in combination with prolonged and intense exposure to the sun (UVA/UVB) causes a phototoxic reaction in which the nail plate detaches from the nail bed with superimposed nail haemorrhaging.¹⁻³ Her toenails were spared, because she wore hiking boots with subsequently no exposure to sunlight. Doxycycline-induced photo-onycholysis without other skin photosensitivity is a rare phenomenon, medical practitioners should be aware of. The nail abnormalities disappeared spontaneously after she stopped taking doxycycline. The prognosis is good with usually complete nail recovery in three to six months.

DISCLOSURES

The authors report no conflicts of interest. No funding or financial support was received.

REFERENCES

- 1. Rabar D, Combemale P, Peyron F. Doxycycline-induced photo-onycholysis. J Travel Med. 2004;11:386-7.
- Badri T, Ben Tekaya N, Cherif F, Ben Osman Dhahri A. Photo-onycholysis: two cases induced by doxycycline. Acta Dermatovenerol Alp Pannonica Adriat. 2004;13:135-6.
- 3. Chandran NS, Aw DC. Drug-induced photo-onycholysis: an often-neglected phenomenon. Intern Med J. 2013;43:1349-50.

A case of bilious pleuritis after radiofrequency ablation

B. Tomlow¹*, A.P. Visscher², W. Burgersdijk¹

Departments of ¹Pulmonary Medicine, ²Gastroenterology, Noordwest Ziekenhuisgroep, Alkmaar, the Netherlands, *corresponding author: tel. +31 (0)72-5484444, e-mail: b.tomlow@nwz.nl

CASE REPORT

A 76-year-old man was referred to the hospital with progressive dyspnoea and abdominal pain in the right upper quadrant of the abdomen. Medical history showed colon carcinoma with metastasis of the liver, for which radiofrequency ablation had been performed several times, most recently three weeks prior to presentation. Physical examination showed a temperature of 38.6 °C and respiratory rate of 32 breaths/min with diminished breath sounds at the right basal area with fine rales and abdominal tenderness of the right upper quadrant. Blood analysis showed a C-reactive protein level of 92 mg/l

(normal value 0-10mg/l) and a leukocyte count of 14.2 x 10^{9} /l (normal value 3.5-10.0 x 10^{9} /l). Chest X-ray showed consolidation of the right lower lobe and ligula, right-sided pleural fluid and thickening of the minor fissure (*figure 1*). Computed tomography, performed after drainage of the pleural fluid, showed a lesion in the liver with air and a perforation of the right hemi-diaphragm with a small ventral pneumothorax (*figure 2*).

WHAT IS YOUR DIAGNOSIS?

See page 275 for the answer to this photo quiz

Figure 1. Chest x-ray showing a consolidation of the right lower lobe and ligula, right-sided pleural fluid and thickening of the minor fissure



Figure 2. Chest CT showing a RFA lesion with disruption of the right hemi-diaphragm and small ventral pneumothorax on the right side



ANSWER TO PHOTO QUIZ (PAGE 274) A CASE OF BILIOUS PLEURITIS AFTER RADIOFREQUENCY ABLATION

DIAGNOSIS

To differentiate bilious pleuritis (with or without empyema) from carcinomatous pleuritis a transthoracic needle aspiration was performed which yielded a clear brown fluid. Analysis of the pleural fluid showed a low leukocyte count, a high bilirubin level of 137 μ mol/l (normal value o-20 μ mol/l) without malignant cells or bacterial growth. This strongly suggests a disruption of the hepatobiliary system and the presence of a thoraco-biliary fistula.

Radiofrequency ablation of liver tumours has been widely practised around the world in the treatment of early and late stages of cancer. It is generally performed for unresectable primary or metastatic liver, lung and kidney tumours and can be conducted in a minimally invasive manner through a percutaneous route or using a laparoscopic or thoracoscopic approach. It is less invasive than surgical resection and preserves maximal normal parenchyma.¹ Mulier et al. described the most common complications of radiofrequency ablation which were re-bleeding, intra-abdominal infection and damage to the biliary tract resulting in the formation of a biloma. Pulmonary complications were found in 0.6% of patients. Symptomatic pleural effusions were described in seven (0.14%) of 3670 patients.¹ Diaphragmatic injury was described in five (0.1%) patients. Since bile is a very good nesting ground for a bacterial superinfection, bilious pleuritis poses a therapeutic challenge for clinicians.²

A fibrotic thorax has also been described, as bile is a fibrogenic agent; hence a delay in drainage of the pleural fluid can rapidly progress to a permanent state of compromised lung function.³ In our case the patient was transferred to an academic centre with the thorax drain in situ. He underwent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography where bile leakage was seen for which two endoprostheses were placed. Bile was adequately drained and the chest drain stopped producing bilious fluid. In conclusion, it is important for clinicians to recognise bilious pleuritis as a potential complication of radiofrequency ablation. The symptoms may occur days to weeks after the treatment. It is a rare complication that should be considered, as it is treatable if recognised.

DISCLOSURES

The authors report no conflicts of interest. No funding or financial support was received.

REFERENCES

- 1. Mulier S, Mulier P, Ni Y, et al. Complications of radiofrequency coagulation of liver tumours. Br J Surg. 2002, 89:1206-22.
- Begum S, Mukherjee S, Biswas D, Misra AK, Ghosh P, Bhanja P. A rare pleural effusion in a young male. Lung India. 2015; 32: 389-91.
- Hamers LA, Bosscha K, van Leuken MH, Moviat MA, de Jager CP. Bilothorax: A bitter complication of liver surgery. Case Rep Surg. 2013;2013:372827.

4-Aminopyridine as a life-saving treatment in calcium channel antagonist intoxication

P.H.J. van der Voort^{1,2}, B. Wilffert³, E.N. van Roon^{3,4}, D.R.A. Uges⁵

¹Department of Intensive Care, OLVG, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, ²TIAS School for Business and Society, Tilburg University, the Netherlands, ³Department of Pharmacotherapy and Pharmaceutical Care, University of Groningen, Groningen, the Netherlands, ⁴Department of Clinical Pharmacy of Zorggroep Noorderbreedte and De Tjongerschans, Leeuwarden, the Netherlands, ⁵Department of Pharmacy and Toxicology, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, the Netherlands, *corresponding author: tel.: +31 (0)20-5993007, fax: +31 (0)20-5992128, email: p.h.j.vandervoort@olvg.nl

To the Editor,

With interest we read the article written by Rietjens et al. concerning practical recommendations for calcium channel antagonist poisoning.¹ The authors give a nice overview of the pathophysiology and the treatment options. However, one potential life-saving option was not mentioned. In 2007 we published a case report on the use of 4-aminopyridine (fampridine) treatment in case of calcium channel poisoning.2 We described a case of amlodipine intoxication but this substance has also been used in verapamil intoxication.3-5 4-Aminopyridine inhibits different types of potassium channels (G-protein coupled potassium channels, ATP-sensitive potassium channel, Na+ -activated potassium channel6). This blocking action causes a slight depolarisation, thereby opening Na+ and subsequently calcium channels. In particular, the Na+ influx can elicit a rise in cytosolic Ca2+ concentration by inhibiting the Na+, Ca2+ exchanger, which under physiological conditions removes Ca2+ out of the cell driven by the Na+ gradient. 4-Aminopyridine-mediated Na+ influx will decrease the Na+ gradient and thereby decrease the driving force for this Ca2+-extruding Na+, Ca2+ exchanger. Therefore, in calcium entry blocker overdose, 4-aminopyridine can increase the cytosolic Ca2+ concentration very efficiently independent of the calcium channels.

In addition, variability exists between calcium entry blockers as intoxication with diltiazem can usually be treated with calcium infusion and we do not advise 4-aminopyridine in this type of intoxication. Any differentiation in the type of calcium entry blocker is lacking in the paper by Rietjens et al.

In conclusion, we think that the 4-aminopyridinetreatment option deserves a place in a review concerning this topic.

DISCLOSURES

The authors report no conflicts of interest. No funding or financial support was received.

REFERENCES

- Rietjens SJ, de Lange DW, Donker DW, Meulenbelt J. Practical recommendations for calcium channel antagonist poisoning. Neth J Med. 2016;74:60-7.
- Wilffert B, Boskma RJ, van der Voort PHJ, Uges DRA, van Roon EN, Brouwers JRBJ. 4-aminopyridine (fampridine) effectively treats amlodipine poisoning: a case report. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2007;32:655-7.
- Magdalan J. New treatment methods in verapamil poisoning: experimental studies. Polish J Pharmacol. 2003;55:425-32.
- Magdalan J, Kochman K, Antonczyk A, Przewlocki M, Smolarek M. Successful treatment by 4-aminopryridine of three cases of severe verapamil poisoning. Przeglad Lekarski. 2003;60:271-3.
- Ter Wee PM, Kremer Hovinga TK, Uges DR, Van der Geest S. 4-Aminopyridine and haemodialysis in the treatment of verapamil intoxication. Hum Toxicol. 1985;4:327-9.
- Agoston S, Maestrone E, Van Hezik EJ, Ket JM, Houwertje MC, Uges DRA Jr. Effective treatment of verapamil intoxication with 4-aminopyridine in the cat. Clin Invest. 1984;73:1291-6.

Could extracorporeal albumin dialysis be considered as an adjunct therapy in calcium channel blocker overdose?

D. Vodovar^{1,2}, B. Mégarbane^{1,2}*

¹Department of Medical and Toxicological Critical Care, Lariboisière Hospital, Paris, France, ²INSERM UMRS 1144, Paris-Diderot University, Paris, France, *corresponding author: tel.: +33-149958961, fax: +33-149956578, email: bruno-megarbane@wanadoo.fr

To the Editor,

Recently, Rietjens et al. presented an up-to-date stepwise strategy to manage calcium channel blocker (CCB) overdose including supportive care (mechanical ventilation, vasopressors and inotropic drugs), gastrointestinal decontamination and evidenced antidotes (calcium salts and high-dose insulin). In life-threatening CCB poisoning, refractory to standard therapies, they advised to consider lipid emulsion and extracorporeal life support.¹ We agree with this strategy and would like to clarify the role of extracorporeal albumin dialysis mentioned by the authors.

All CCBs have some similar pharmacokinetic properties including high protein binding rates (up to 80%), octanol-water partition coefficients (logP > 2.8) and distribution volumes (up to 5 l/kg), making them non-removable by dialysis. The rationale for extracorporeal albumin dialysis is based on the ability of albumin contained in the circuit to enhance the elimination of the toxicant released from the proteins by physicochemical interactions with the membrane and cleared from the blood by diffusion.² Four refractory CCB poisonings (diltiazem [n = 2], verapamil [n = 1] and amlodipine [n = I]) were treated with the Molecular Adsorbent Recirculating System (MARS).^{3,4} Significant tapering of the catecholamine infusion rate was reported and attributed to the faster drop in blood CCB concentrations during MARS.³ However, in the case of amlodipine poisoning, the fraction of amlodipine removed by MARS (< 1%) was negligible,⁴ questioning the exact mechanisms involved in MARS-attributed improvement of CCB-poisoned patients. Interestingly, extraction of diltiazem, verapamil and their respective active metabolites by MARS has not been investigated.3

Several hypotheses can explain how MARS contributes to improvement in CCB poisoning. CCBs induce

vasodilatation by stimulating endothelial nitric oxide (NO) synthase and increasing the production of cyclic guanosine monophosphate, a potent vasodilator. In acute and decompensated chronic liver failure patients, MARS was shown to remove NO from plasma by binding NO to the albumin contained in the circuit as S-nitrosothiol-albumin.5 MARS may thus act in CCB-poisoned patients by scavenging the overproduced NO. Additionally, as in liver failure patients, removal of pro-inflammatory cytokines by MARS may explain the observed improvement in haemodynamics.² Finally, although elevation of liver enzymes and decrease in prothrombin time were not reported in the CCB-poisoned patients treated by MARS,^{3,4} significant alteration in liver function due to cardiovascular failure cannot be ruled out. Since all involved CCBs are strongly metabolised by the liver, liver function support using MARS may explain the reported clinical benefit by maintaining CCB metabolic clearance. However, since its usefulness is still low-evidenced, the routine use of extracorporeal albumin dialysis cannot be recommended to manage CCB poisoning.

DISCLOSURES

The authors report no conflicts of interest. No funding or financial support was received.

REFERENCES

 Rietjens SJ, de Lange DW, Donker DW, Meulenbelt J. Practical recommendations for calcium channel antagonist poisoning. Neth J Med. 2016;74:60-7.

- Wittebole X, Hantson P. Use of the molecular adsorbent recirculating system (MARS[™]) for the management of acute poisoning with or without liver failure. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2011;49:782-93.
- 3. Pichon N, Dugard A, Clavel M, et al. Extracorporeal albumin dialysis in three cases of acute calcium channel blocker poisoning with life-threatening refractory cardiogenic shock. Ann Emerg Med. 2012;59:540-4.
- Gérard L, Galloy AC, Capron A, Hantson P. Mixed amlodipine/valsartan overdose treated by the molecular adsorbent recirculating system (MARS™). Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2015;53:573-7.
- Guo LM, Liu JY, Xu DZ, et al. Application of Molecular Adsorbents Recirculating System to remove NO and cytokines in severe liver failure patients with multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. Liver Int. 2003;23;16-20.

RESPONSE TO THE LETTERS TO THE EDITOR FROM VAN DER VOORT ET AL. AND VODOVAR AND MÉGARBANE

S.J. Rietjens¹, D.W. Donker², D.W. de Lange^{1,2}

¹National Poisons Information Center, University Medical Center Utrecht, the Netherlands, ²Department of Intensive Care Medicine, University Medical Center Utrecht, the Netherlands, *corresponding author: tel.: +31 (0)88-7559542, fax: +31 (0)30-2541511, email: S.Rietjens@umcutrecht.nl

To the Editor,

We thank our colleagues Van der Voort et al. for proposing 4-aminopyridine as an alternative treatment for calcium channel antagonist (CCA) intoxication.¹ Our manuscript focused on the most practical treatments.² However, apart from the treatments that we discussed, several other treatments have been suggested for CCA overdose, e.g. phosphodiesterase III inhibitors, levosimendan, methylene blue, L-carnitine and 4-aminopyridine.³ The clinical evidence for these treatments is mostly based upon animal studies and anecdotal human reports. In our opinion, further research is needed to establish the efficacy and safety of these therapies before they can be routinely implemented in the treatment of CCA overdose.

4-Aminopyridine is a mechanistically appealing treatment candidate for CCA overdose. It blocks potassium channels on the cytoplasmic side of the membrane, resulting in depolarisation and opening of voltage-gated calcium channels. Several animal models have shown haemodynamic improvement after 4-aminopyridine administration,4-9 although severe side effects, such as muscle fasciculation and seizures, were also noted.6-8 Only few human data are published on the use of 4-aminopyridine in CCA overdose.¹⁰⁻¹³ Wilffert et al. describe a patient with amlodipine/lorazepam overdose who haemodynamically improved after administration of a three-hour intravenous infusion with 4-aminopyridine. $^{\scriptscriptstyle \rm I3}$ In a patient with verapamil overdose it was unclear whether the haemodynamic improvement could be attributed to 4-aminopyridine or other treatments.¹² In addition, as Wilffert et al. already mentioned in their manuscript, intravenous preparations of 4-aminopyridine are only sparsely available in Dutch hospital pharmacies.

Phosphodiesterase III inhibitors inhibit the breakdown of cyclic adenosine monophosphate, resulting in increased intracellular calcium concentrations, and improved inotropy.¹⁴ Levosimendan is a calcium sensitiser, showing direct interaction with troponin C in the myofilaments of cardiomyocytes.¹⁵ However, both phosphodiesterase III inhibitors and levosimendan can cause significant vasodilatation, worsening CCA-induced hypotension. Methylene blue inhibits nitric oxide synthase and guanylyl

cyclase activity, decreasing the production of cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP). Elevated intracellular cGMP concentrations lead to relaxation of myocardium and vascular smooth muscle. Methylene blue can possibly counteract CCA-induced toxicity by inhibition of excessive production of cGMP.¹⁶ In CCA overdose, the metabolism of cardiac myocytes is switched from free fatty acids to glucose. L-carnitine could positively influence cardiac metabolism, by reversing the metabolism back to free fatty acids.^{17,18} The effectiveness of these alternative treatments, including evaluation of adverse effects, should be further explored in order to draw more definite conclusions about their therapeutic value in CCA overdose.

Furthermore, we would also like to thank Vodovar and Mégarbane for proposing and clarifying the role of extracorporeal albumin dialysis (Molecular Adsorbent Recirculating System (MARS)) in CCA overdose.¹⁹ Interestingly, the improvement in haemodynamics is not always accompanied by a substantial removal of toxin by MARS. Several hypotheses are provided that could explain the beneficial effects of MARS in CCA overdose.¹⁹ However, the limited availability of MARS will obstruct general application of this technique. In the Netherlands, only a few university hospitals perform this treatment. An alternative but promising treatment is the use of extracorporeal life support,^{20,21} which should be used as a rescue therapy when conventional pharmacological interventions are not sufficiently effective.

DISCLOSURES

The authors report no conflicts of interest. No funding or financial support was received.

REFERENCES

- Van der Voort PHJ, Wilffert B, van Roon EN, Uges DRA. 4-aminopyridine as a life saving treatment in calcium channel antagonist intoxciation. Neth J Med. 2016;74:276.
- Rietjens SJ, de Lange DW, Donker DW, Meulenbelt J. Practical recommendations for calcium channel antagonist poisoning. Neth J Med. 2016;74:60-7.

- St-Onge M, Dube PA, Gosselin S, et al. Treatment for calcium channel blocker poisoning: A systematic review. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2014;52:926-44.
- Agoston S, Maestrone E, van Hezik EJ, Ket JM, Houwertjes MC, Uges DRA. Effective treatment of verapamil intoxication with 4-aminopyridine in the cat. J Clin Invest. 1984;73:1291-6.
- Gay R, Algeo S, Lee R, Olajos M, Morkin E, Goldman S. Treatment of verapamil toxicity in intact dogs. J Clin Invest. 1986;77:1805-11.
- Graudins A, Wong KK. Comparative hemodynamic effects of levosimendan alone and in conjunction with 4-aminopyridine or calcium chloride in a rodent model of severe verapamil poisoning. J Med Toxicol. 2010;6:85-93.
- Magdalan J. New treatment methods in verapamil poisoning: experimental studies. Pol J Pharmacol. 2003;55:425-32.
- Tuncok Y, Apaydin S, Gelal A, Ates M, Guven H. The effects of 4-aminopyridine and Bay K 8644 on verapamil-induced cardiovascular toxicity in anesthetized rats. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol. 1998;36:301-7.
- Wesseling H, Houwertjes MC, de Langen CDJ, Kingma JH. Hemodynamic effects of high dosages of verapamil and the lack of protection by 4-aminopyridine in the rabbit. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther. 1983;266:106-12.
- Fiszer M, Kolacinski Z, Rechcinski T. The application of 4-aminopyridine in calcium channel inhibitors acute poisoning. Przegl Lek. 2007;64:293-7.
- Magdalan J, Kochman K, Antonczyk A, Przewlocki M, Smolarek M. Successful treatment by 4-aminopyridine of three cases of severe verapamil poisoning. Przegl Lek. 2003;60:271-3.

- Ter Wee PM, Kremer Hovinga TK, Uges DRA, van der Geest S. 4-Aminopyridine and haemodialysis in the treatment of verapamil intoxication. Hum Exp Toxicol. 1985;4:327-9.
- Wilffert B, Boskma RJ, van der Voort PHJ, Uges DRA, van Roon EN, Brouwers JRBJ. 4-Aminopyridine (fampridine) effectively treats amlodipine poisoning: a case report. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2007;32:655-7.
- 14. Movsesian MA, Kukreja RC. Phosphodiesterase inhibition in heart failure. Handb Exp Pharmacol. 2011;(204):237-49.
- Papp Z, Edes I, Fruhwald S, et al. Levosimendan: molecular mechanisms and clinical implications: consensus of experts on the mechanisms of action of levosimendan. Int J Cardiol. 2012;159:82-7.
- 16. Lo JC, Darracq MA, Clark RF. A review of methylene blue treatment for cardiovascular collapse. J Emerg Med. 2014;46:670-9.
- Perez E, Chu J, Bania T, Medlej K. L-carnitine increases survival in a murine model of severe verapamil toxicity. Acad Emerg Med. 2011;18:1135-40.
- St-Onge M, Ajmo I, Poirier D, Laliberte M. L-Carnitine for the treatment of a calcium channel blocker and metformin poisoning. J Med Toxicol. 2013;9:266-9.
- Vodovar D, Mégarbane B. Could extracorporeal albumin dialysis be considered as an adjunct therapy in calcium-channel blocker overdose? Neth J Med. 2016;74:xx-xx.
- 20. Baud FJ, Mégarbane B, Deye N, Leprince P. Clinical review: aggressive management and extracorporeal support for drug-induced cardiotoxicity. Crit Care. 2007;11:207.
- De Lange DW, Sikma MA, Meulenbelt J. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in the treatment of poisoned patients. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2013;51:385-93.